St. Catherine University

SOPHIA

Master of Arts in Holistic Health Studies Research Papers

Holistic Health Studies

5-2023

Spirituality and Awe Experiences in Second-Generation Minnesota Hmong: A Phenomenological Study

Mai L. Xiong

Megan E. Pfenning

Sheri L. DeMartelaere

Follow this and additional works at: https://sophia.stkate.edu/ma_hhs



Part of the Alternative and Complementary Medicine Commons

Spirituality and Awe Experiences in Second-Generation Minnesota Hmong: A Phenomenological Study

Mai L. Xiong¹, Megan E. Pfenning¹, Sheri L. DeMartelaere¹

Master of Arts in Holistic Health Studies, St. Catherine University

Stasia Johnson Steinhagen, MA, CCH and Carol Geisler, PhD

May 17, 2023

Author Note

Mai L. Xiong ORCID iD https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2625-0924

Megan E. Pfenning ORCID iD https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5357-2043

Sheri L. DeMartelaere ORCID iD https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7849-4878

Acknowledgements

We would like to collectively thank our professors Carol and Stasia for supporting us through this research journey. We would like to thank the participants for sharing their stories and experiences with us. This research would not have been possible if it were not for all the love and support from everyone.

Mai: I would like to express gratitude to my parents for their support throughout college. To my parents, I love you and I am grateful for the life, love, and patience you have given me. My ancestors' guidance has been a blessing in my life and I am grateful for them. I would also like to thank my talented and awesome colleagues Megan and Sheri for their hard work in making this research complete. A huge thank you to all friends and those who have supported the research in some way. *Ua tsuag* ("thank you" in Hmong)!

Megan: To my loving husband and in-laws, your support through this process made it possible. To my children, I hope you work hard to follow your dreams. My research colleagues for the encouragement and teamwork, and finally, Stasia Johnson Steinhagen for your expertise and guidance supporting this project to the finish line.

Sheri: I would like to thank my sisters for their love and positivity. The final semester was a significant visual challenge that I would not have had the fortitude to endure if it weren't for them. To Megan and Mai, I am at a loss for words. This research collaboration has been filled with moments of awe and deepening spirituality -- thank you.

Dedication

Dedicated to the Hmong people and Hmong communities around the world.

Contents

Abstract	<u>6</u>
Introduction	7
Literature Review.	10
The Concept of Spirituality	10
The Emotion Awe.	11
Awe Defined	12
Awe Experiences	12
Awe, Religion, and Spirituality	13
Awe and Culture	13
Awe, Self, and Well-being	14
Hmong Spirituality, History, and Culture	15
Cultural Intersection within the United States.	22
Cultural Impacts of Relocation.	22
Spiritual and Awe Experiences in Second-Generation Hmong	25
Summary and Research Question.	25
Lenses.	27
Theoretical Framework.	27
Personal and Professional Lenses.	28
Method.	35
Rationale for Constructivist Paradigm.	35
Rationale for the Phenomenology Culture of Inquiry	36
Rationale for the Semi-Structured Interview Method.	37
Sampling	39
<u>Instrumentation</u>	41
Data Collection Procedures.	42
Data Analysis	43
Design Rigor.	44
Protection of Human Subjects.	46
Design-Specific Strengths and Limitations.	47
Results	50
Description of the Participants	50
Observational Data.	50
Essential Experience and Main Themes.	51
Discussion	57
Findings Supported by the Literature	57
Unexpected Findings	59

Implications for Holistic Health.	60
Limitations.	62
Recommendations for Future Research.	62
Conclusion.	63
References.	64
Appendix A: Flyer, Social Media Advertising, and Google Interest Form	83
Appendix B: Social Media / FB Post.	84
Appendix C: Google Interest Form.	85
Appendix D: Interview Guide for Spirituality and Awe Experiences.	87

Abstract

Due to the effects of relocation and acculturation, some Hmong may have lost touch with traditional spiritual practices, potentially limiting second-generation's access to spirituality's health benefits. Awe is an emotion linked to spirituality, shown to serve as a spiritual catalyst. Acculturation impacts how spirituality and awe are experienced, understood and expressed across the generations. To date, there are more than 81,000 Hmong people who live in Minnesota. Through a constructivist lens, the purpose of this study is to describe spirituality and awe experiences within the second-generation Hmong living in Minnesota. Utilizing a phenomenological approach and a holism framework, Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis of nine semi-structured interviews shows that participants do in fact experience spirituality and awe. These experiences are intertwined, involve the senses and emotions, and result in a sense of interconnection, spiritual identity, purpose, and open-mindedness. This study emphasizes the importance of intergenerational dialogue surrounding spiritual and awe experiences to increase understanding of their own culture, religious practices, and spiritual identity. Spirituality should be included in health practitioner education and health care models to promote Hmong spiritual, mental, interpersonal and community health and well-being.

Keywords: Awe, spiritual, Hmong, second-generation, well-being

Introduction

Spirituality is a pillar of the Hmong epistemology (Vue & Mouavangsou, 2021), and a core component of holism, the foundation of holistic health (Di Stefano, 2006). Spirituality is essential to overall health and well-being impacting mental, social, and physical health domains (Westgate, 1996), further, it's shown to offer protection from adverse health events.

Modern medicine may be able to substitute for a soul-calling ritual as an effective remedy for a headache. But Western medicine can never satisfy the deep spiritual yearnings of the Hmong to participate in sacred dramas that make life meaningful.... Whether the sickness abates or lingers, the shaman's real accomplishment in every performance is that she or he establishes the world (Twin Cities PBS, n.d.)

-Dwight Conquergood

Traditional Hmong are pantheists; their religious practices include shamanism, animism, and ancestral worship (Ceplina, 2016). Catholic missionaries first introduced the Hmong to Christianity in the 1920s (Windland, 1992). Since then, some Hmong converted, some maintained their native religions, and others intermingled religions (Ceplina, 2016). These religions have elements of spirituality, fear, reverence, and the capacity for *awe* (Ceplina, 2016; Her, 2005). Likewise, awe is an emotion that may involve elements of fear, reverence, or wonderment (Keltner & Haidt, 2003).

An individual exposed to a new culture may construct and experience emotions of awe from that culture, particularly with increasing exposure to the new culture (Silva Luna & Bering, 2020). Second-generation children of parents who have not fully acculturated into a new society may have difficulties balancing or making sense of their two different cultures. This can influence children's perceptions, experiences, or expressions of awe and spirituality.

8

Neuropsychologist Pearsall (2007) defines awe as "an overwhelming and life-altering blend of fright and fascination that leaves us in a puzzled apprehension and appreciative perplexed wonder" (p. 31). Cohen et al. (2010) say that awe is an emotion that has transformational qualities linked to spirituality; it may be elicited by positive or negative events, and further, interpreted with a positive or negative lens. Experiences of persecution or immigration may evoke a sense of awe.

Awe activates religious and spiritual feelings, promoting stronger belief in the supernatural (Van Cappellen & Saroglou, 2011; Vandeloso & Graham, 2014). Spirituality is essential for holistic well-being (Joseph et al., 2021), is experienced across cultures (Joseph, et al., 2001), and is protective against adversity, such as immigration and acculturation (Joseph et al., 2021; Hodge, 2000; Steffen & Merrill, 2011).

Hmong began immigrating to the United States in the 1970's. The largest concentrations of Hmong live in California, Wisconsin, and Minnesota. To date, there is no clear demographic data regarding Hmong religious practices in the United States or Minnesota. This gap disallows extrapolations about the presence or nature of Hmong spiritual and awe experiences, both of which can support well-being of second-generation Hmong living in these places. Researchers, community members and policymakers need to understand these things to best support the health needs of this community. While researchers have described the traditional Hmong spirit-centric religious practices and cultural values themselves (DeSantiago, 2020a; DeSantiago, 2020b; Her, 2005), no research yet explores the existence or lived experiences of spirituality and awe among the second-generation Hmong. Therefore, our research purpose is to describe spirituality and awe experiences within second-generation Hmong living in Minnesota.

9

To begin, we explore what is known about spirituality, awe, and well-being. Then, we review the relevant history of the Hmong people, culture, and varied spiritual practices.

Following this, we describe the theoretical framework for this study, our personal and professional lenses, and how they influence the development, implementation, and interpretation of this research. Next, we describe our research methodology, including data collection and analysis. The results section qualitatively depicts the rich descriptions of spirituality and awe experiences in the adult second-generation Minnesota Hmong community. We end discussing our findings relative to the known literature, and offer implications of these results for holistic health, the community and future research.

Literature Review

In this chapter, we review spirituality and its role in well-being. Similarly, we review awe, its connection to spirituality and role in well-being. We then describe the known relevant history of the Hmong people, their culture and their wide-ranging spiritual beliefs and practices. Finally, we arrive at the purpose of our research: to describe spiritual and awe experiences of second-generation Hmong living in Minnesota.

The Concept of Spirituality

This section reviews the literature on spirituality, specifically exploring its implications for well-being. We begin defining spirituality. Next, we review experiences of spirituality, how spirituality affects self, the importance of spirituality for well-being, and briefly, what is known about Hmong spirituality experiences.

Spirituality Defined

Elkins et al. (1988) define spirituality as "a way of being and experiencing that comes about through awareness of a transcendent dimension and that is characterized by certain identifiable values in regard to self, others, nature, life, and whatever one considers to be the Ultimate" (p.10). Through our understanding of the broader literature, we refine this definition to spirituality is a subjective experience of connection with self and others that fosters feelings of purpose and meaning, and positively impacts well-being.

Spirituality, Identity and Well-being

Spiritual identity is a persistent sense of self that addresses ultimate questions about the nature, purpose, and meaning of life, resulting in behaviors that are consonant with one's core values (Young & Koopsen, 2011; Kiesling et al, 2008).

Spirituality and healing are connected. Healing "occurs over time continuing through the individual's life journey and becoming a way of living that flows from, reflects, and nourishes his or her spirit" (Young & Koopsen, 2011, p.17). Conversely, spirituality has a positive impact on well-being, something significant among marginalized or disenfranchised groups (Young & Koopsen, 2011; Hodge, 2007; Shields & Balboni, 2020). Religion and spirituality provide a sense of meaning that enhances physical and mental health (Monroy & Keltner, 2023). Rituals may help individuals reconnect with their spirituality and support their spiritual health (Young & Koopsen, 2011).

Hmong and Spiritual Experiences

The Hmong culture embraces spirituality at the cosmological or mystical level (Her, 2005; Postert, 2009). Their traditional religion, Animism, is the belief that all things hold spirit. Rituals maintain spiritual health and harmony within the individual and family; they honor and remember the ancestors and deceased family through offerings; they watch over the connection of the individual and their soul from life to after-life and from generation to generation (Her et al., n.d.). Rituals may help individuals reconnect with their spirituality and support their spiritual health (Young & Koopsen, 2011). Rituals such as praying, meditation, attending worship services, or having a walk in the forest and participating in ceremonies are part of awe experiences which can be beneficial to the mind and body (Young & Koopsen, 2011; Monroy & Keltner, 2023).

The Emotion Awe

This section reviews the literature on awe, exploring its relationships to well-being and spirituality. We begin defining awe. Next, we review experiences of awe, awe and religion versus spirituality, awe and culture, and the connections between awe, self, and well-being.

Awe Defined

Early definitions of awe include aspects of fear, reverence, and dread. Merriam-Webster (n.d.) defines it as "an emotion variously combining dread, veneration, and wonder that is inspired by authority or by the sacred or sublime." Our reading of the literature refines awe to be a complex emotion elicited from experiences of perceptually vast stimuli. Experiencing awe results in an updated understanding of the world (Keltner & Haidt, 2003). Despite awe research being recent, Keltner and Haidt (2003) suspect awe to be a primordial emotion. They suspect depictions of awe in paleolithic era cave writings, amongst observers of the seven wonders of the ancient world, and within religious texts (Gordon et al., 2016; Keltner & Haidt, 2003; Keltner & Mossman, 2007; Shiota et al., 2015). The Bible is full of awe references as in the book of Genesis: "Surely the LORD is in this place, and I did not know it. He was afraid and said, 'How awesome is this place! This is none other than the house of God; this is the gate of heaven."" (English Standard Version Bible, 2001, Genesis. 28:17). The Hebrew word for awe is "yirah," which translates directly to "fear" but can be interpreted as respect, reverence, and worship (FIRM, 2021). Awe translated to Hmong means dangerous or fear (txaus ntshai).

Awe Experiences

Western society describes awe as pleasurable; "this is awesome!" Researchers acknowledge art, music, cultural artifacts, collective experiences (natural disasters, pandemics, war, concerts, worship), mystical experiences, religious epiphanies, remarkably influential and powerful people, or conceptually vast stimuli (such as new experiences, new ideas, large numbers) as potentially awe-inducing (Gordon et al., 2016; Keltner & Haidt, 2003; Keltner & Mossman, 2007; Shiota et al., 2015).

Keltner and Haidt (2003) describe the awe emotion as an indescribable experience with profound meaning. Most research views awe as an aesthetic emotion; Western bias adds an individualism and positivity slant to this view. Regardless, researchers agree that awe arises from either positive or negative stimuli (Keltner & Haidt, 2003; Rudd et al., 2012; Shiota et al., 2006; Shiota et al., 2007; Stellar et al., 2015; Valdesolo & Graham, 2014; Van Cappellen, & Saroglou, 2012). Although research on awe through negative experiences is scant (Gordon et al., 2017), Cohen et. al. (2010) find adverse experiences hold potential for significant and longer-lasting spiritual transformation than positive ones.

Awe, Religion, and Spirituality

Awe's role in facilitating a sense of connection is significant in collective contexts such as cultures and religion. Awe activates religious and spiritual feelings and behavioral intentions (Van Cappellen & Saroglou, 2011) and promotes a stronger belief in the supernatural (Vandeloso & Graham, 2014).

There is ample historical evidence connecting awe to religion and spirituality (Mehar, 2018; Saroglou et al., 2008; Valdesolo & Graham, 2014; Van Cappellen & Saroglou, 2011). Kearns and Tyler (2020) correlate dispositional awe (awe-proneness) with greater spirituality and social-religious motives. Further, Van Cappelen and Saroglou (2011) advance a hypothesis of awe's transformative potential, setting it apart from other positive emotions, calling it a *self-transcendent emotion*.

Awe and Culture

While emotions transcend cultural and religious boundaries, culture has its impact.

Culture influences emotion and our relative self-concept (Bai et al., 2017; Markus & Kitayama, 1991; Markus & Kitayama, 1993, Razavi et al., 2016). Tsai (2007) suggests that culture may

influence how we want to feel based on the cultural valuation of any given emotion. Evolving language also plays a part. Awe definitions have changed according to culture. Today, awe has a more positive connotation (when studied from a Western lens). Such dialectical differences amongst cultures and across eras combine with the absence of literal translations or definitions between and within cultural groups, making definite meaning elusive. For these reasons, the impact of awe on self-concept varies among and between members of both collectivist and individualist societies (Bai et al., 2017; Razavi et al., 2016). We need more research to fully understand the phenomenon of the lived awe experience both within and across cultures.

Awe, Self, and Well-being

Experiences of awe are positively correlated with humility, collective engagement, generosity, creativity (Chirico et al., 2018; Piff et al., 2015; Stellar et al., 2018), and life satisfaction; it is negatively correlated with self-importance, daily stress levels, and materialism often resulting in the sense of connection to something larger than oneself (Bai et al., 2021; Rivera et al., 2020; Rudd et al., 2012). Researchers correlate awe with prosocial behaviors and enhanced well-being (Bai et al., 2021; Chirico et al., 2018; Piff et al., 2015; Rivera et al., 2020; Rudd et al., 2012; Stellar et al., 2018). One theory credits awe's influence on the self. Awe shifts focus off the self and towards interconnectedness with a greater whole. Awe enables a person to view themselves as smaller and less significant but does not lessen self-esteem or self-worth (Bai et al., 2017; Shiota et al., 2007). Awe influences self-concept, and as a result, experiences of awe influence behavior, life appraisal, and well-being (Bai et al., 2017; Piff et al., 2015; Preston & Shin, 2017). To put awe in a cultural context, we next explore Hmong spirituality, history, and culture.

Hmong Spirituality, History, and Culture

In this section, we review findings about Hmong spirituality, history, migration to the United States and Minnesota, Hmong culture, and impacts of relocation and acculturation.

Hmong Spirituality

In this section, we review literature about Hmong religion, spirits, and spirituality. We define shamanism and animism as they pertain to the Hmong people. Next, we review the history of Hmong and Christianity and the resultant Christian Hmong spiritual practices.

Her and colleagues (n.d.) suggest the Hmong religion is family-centric and, in this regard, is critically different from other religions. It is not a religion practiced in a place of worship but instead practiced in individual homes. Religious practices vary from household to household, region to region, and clan to clan, with the Hmong proverb: "*Ib tsaab teb ib tsaa txuj*" meaning each region governs its traditions (Her, 2005). The study of Hmong religion is problematic as there is no formal religious text grounding Hmong religion (Her et al., n.d.-a; Her, 2005). Its traditions are passed down orally and through lived experiences within the home (Capps, 2011; DeSantiago 2020a; Her, 2005; Xiong et al., 2020).

According to DeSantiago (2020b) and Capps (2011), the Hmong people have a personal relationship with the spirit world, with spirits, and the spirits in nature. Postert (2009) describes, for example, a vital life force that is in the mist and rising from the ground. This vital life force is within the plants that become the food that nourishes the Hmong people. This life force is released from the food when cooked in the home. Through this process, the Hmong people, their clan ancestors, and their home itself inhale the life force. The vital life force is the essence that protects the Hmong people and *is* the Hmong people. The Hmong people honor the spirit(s) and life force through worship and reciprocal gifts (Postert, 2009).

DeSantiago (2020a) discusses spirits found within the home of Hmong people, ancestor spirits are in altars within the home and serve to protect the family and the home. Ancestor worship is foundational within the traditional Hmong family. One can appreciate the significance of ancestor worship by understanding the Hmong belief that upon death one of their three souls goes to the ancestor spirit world to be reincarnated, one stays with the body, and one stays to protect its descendants. Thus, Hmong worship their ancestors and revere them with god-like status (Nagai, 2015). Death is a collectively experienced spiritual event (Helsel et al., 2020).

Animism

Animism is prevalent among many Indigenous cultures and has existed as a religious and ontological perspective since early civilization (Swancut, 2019). It is the belief that all things have spirits with the capacity to help or harm us (Editors of Encyclopaedia Britannica, 1998). Traditional Hmong have a personal relationship with their *plig* or spirit, the spirits in nature, and animals (Capps, 2011). Hmong believe that land, soil, and plants all have spirits. Some spirits have dominance over a distinct geological landscape such as a lake, mountain, or forest. A region's dominant spirit, typically in a mighty tree, protects the village in that geographical area. DeSantiago (2020b) further emphasizes that Hmong are one with nature and, at the same time, fearful of the spirits in nature. For example, the Hmong fear harvesting plants in the forest lest they disrespect a spirit thus inflicting future harm upon themselves and their family. For the Hmong, the entire environment is composed of spiritual beings (DeSantiago, 2020b).

Shamanism

Hmong people practice shamanism, but it is not unique to them (Dance of the Deer, n.d.). Anthropologists recognize shamanism as one of the oldest religious practices, present since the beginning of recorded human history (Singh, 2008). A shaman can transcend to the spirit world

and intercede on behalf of the living by performing healing ceremonies (Her, 2005). It is the role of the shaman to communicate between the human and the spirit worlds (Capps, 2011). Shamanic healing practices focus on spiritual causes of sickness, including methods to cure and protect an attacked soul (Vadala, 2019). The shamans enter a trance-like state of other consciousness during ceremonies and rituals connecting to an ancestral spiritual realm of knowledge (Capps, 2011; Her et al., n.d.-b; Nagai, 2015; M. Xiong, personal communication, May 12, 2022).

From a well-being perspective, shamanic rituals hold emotional and psychological meaning and provide a form of social support for Hmong patients (Capps, 2011). When an individual experiences an illness or a phenomenon, a shaman is called to perform a healing ritual to find the underlying cause of the sickness (Capps, 2011; M. Xiong, personal communication, May 12, 2022). Such shamanic healing ceremonies bring the family together. They provide healing not only for the patient but also for the extended family. Capps (2011) likens the healing ceremony to a family psychotherapy session.

There are specific shamans for different circumstances, and not all shamans are able to perform every ritual or ceremony. The Hmong shaman is called Shi Yis (Thao, 2006; Cha, 2003). For the Hmong, becoming a shaman means the ancestors have chosen the individual to become one, and the chosen one must choose to embrace the calling or reject it. Both choices come with implications for the person's well-being (Across the Mountains, 2022; Cha, 2003). The individual may have dreams that range from seeing spirits, receiving spiritual powers, or foretelling of an illness or death which may cause mental health problems. When an individual chooses to reject becoming a shaman, there may be health implications such as depression and other chronic health conditions that can occur to the person (M. Xiong, personal communication,

May 12, 2022). When the individual agrees to become a shaman, they must go through years of training, assisting, and shadowing their shaman master (Across the Mountains, 2022; Cha, 2003). A second-generation Hmong shaman describes the journey as lonely and complicated -- being objectified as a Shaman instead of who he is as a whole person (Across the Mountains, 2022).

History of Hmong and Christianity

Until the mid-20th century, the Hmong culture was passed orally (Vang, 2008) and figuratively, depicted in storytelling, arts, and crafts. When Christian missionaries visited Hmong villages, Father Yves Bertrais, also known as *Txiv Plig Nyiaj Pov*, helped create the Hmong written language. He was also integral to the Hmong Christianity movement (Chanson, 1993). In Laos, he spent nine years studying the Hmong culture and language, dialects, grammar, and phonetics (Chanson, 1993). With the help of others, Father Bertrais created the Romanized Popular Alphabet (RPA) script or Hmong RPA, which the Hmong read and speak today (Chanson, 1993; Vang, 2008). In 1954, the first Hmong Christian, also a shaman, was baptized. Father Bertrais translated several books of the New Testament into the Hmong language using RPA (Chanson, 1993).

There is a symbolic connection between Christian and traditional Hmong beliefs (Her-Xiong & Schroepfer, 2018). Hmong legends include the story of a Fua Tai (Hmong king) who had abandoned the Hmong people (Vang, 2018); the Christian missionaries spoke of their God forsaking them (Her-Xiong & Schroepfer, 2018). The Hmong people tell of a shaman who foretold the coming or return of an all-powerful god spirit (Vang, 2018); the Christian missionaries spoke of prophets foretelling the coming of Christ (Her-Xiong & Schroepfer, 2018). It is through these prophetic connections that many Hmong converted to Christianity. Christian missionaries told the Hmong people that Yesu (Jesus Christ) represented the return of their

Hmong king and would protect them from evil spirits and corrupt power (Her-Xiong & Schroepfer, 2018). The Hmong, through finding similarities between their traditional creation stories and Christian beliefs, strengthened their ability to connect with Christianity (Quincy, 1998).

By 1949, more than one thousand Hmong people had converted to Christianity, and additional conversions continued after the immigration to the United States (Winland, 1992; Her-Xiong & Shroepfer, 2018). According to Religions in Minnesota (n.d.), a "significant component" of the Hmong community in Minnesota has converted to Christianity. It is important to note, as we seek to understand the basis of Hmong spirituality and awe, that while some Hmong have fully adopted Christian beliefs and foregone animistic practices, some hold a mixture of belief systems (Religions in Minnesota, n.d.).

Hmong History

The Hmong are a nomadic-tribal populace without sovereign land. The first documented Hmong Kingdom was in China around C.E. 400 to 900. Over the centuries, the Hmong have endured enslavement, persecution, and warfare with heavy casualties. With each major atrocity, they fled. Eventually, a large settlement came to reside among the mountainous terrain of Laos (Ceplina et al., 2016; Culas & Micraud, 1997; Lor et al., 2016).

The United States American Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) ran an operation in Laos to fight against communism, known as the Secret War (Ceplina et al., 2016; Hamilton-Merritt, 1993; Lor et al., 2016). The CIA recruited Vang Pao, aHmong General in the Royal Lao Army, to train Hmong men to fight alongside the United States as Special Guerilla Units against the Soviet Union and communist Pathet Lao (Hamilton-Merritt, 1993; Vang, 2010). Boys as young as 10 and men as old as 65 fought to protect their land and U.S. interests. At the end of the war, the

Hmong people seeking to escape communist persecution and relying on political promises made by the United States, fled to migration camps in Thailand and eventually emigrated to the United States (Ceplina et al., 2016; Culas & Micraud, 1997; Lor et al., 2016). Rairdan and Higgs (1992) note that many died along the way, and many families were separated. Churches sponsored the first Hmong immigrants to Minnesota with the last wave arriving in 2004 (Minnesota Historical Society, 2014; Quincy, 1998). As of 2014, approximately half of the Hmong population in America live in the Midwest: Minnesota, Wisconsin, and Michigan (Minnesota Historical Society, 2014). Today, more than 300,000 Hmong people live in the United States'; Minnesota is home to 81,000, making it the second-largest Hmong population in the U.S. (Budiman, 2021).

The Hmong have survived oppression, wars, mass casualties, torn families, and subsequent diasporas. Yet, Hmong culture is one of resilience and independent spirit.

Understanding this sheds light on their attitudes and beliefs on health as well as their help-seeking behaviors.

Hmong Culture

Within this section, we explore unique features of the Hmong language, clan structure, cultural arts, and other traditions that may impact understanding of Hmong spirituality and awe experiences.

Hmong Language - Minnesota Dialects

Hmong in Minnesota speak primarily two Hmong dialects: Green Hmong (*Moob Leng* or *Hmong ntsuab*) and White Hmong (*Hmoob dawb*). The two dialects can be confusing for those who are not fluent in both. Some words are pronounced the same, but have different meanings (Thao, 2006). For example, the word *nstab* means "rice grain" in Green Hmong, whereas the same word means "to grab" in White Hmong. We are accustomed to a given word lacking literal

translation between different languages. In the case of the Hmong language, the same word can have completely different meanings between dialects. This creates a language barrier, which can be critical in a healthcare setting equipped with Hmong translation services, or in understanding the meanings associated with spirituality and awe experiences as discussed among the broader Hmong community.

Hmong Clans and Social Structure

Clans serve the purpose of uniting, organizing, and supporting a group of people together as well as providing a sacred name for ritual purposes. There are currently 18 clan names. Of these, twelve are known to represent the original Hmong clans (Chang, Hang, Her, Chue, Khang, Lee, Moua, Song, Thao, Vang, Xiong, and Yang). Each clan has a sacred ritual name known as *qhua* (Thao, 2006). It is important for Hmong people to know their *qhua* because knowing gives them information about their kin. Clan life diversity mirror if not create the religious and cultural diversity found within the Hmong people.

Hmong Arts

Although distinctions exist between clans, the cultural significance of music, sung poetry, flower cloth, and story cloth is significant to the Hmong culture. Music, flower cloth, and story cloths are cultural representations of connection and emotion, and art is known to be a potential source of awe (Keltner & Haidt, 2003). In general, art is visually appealing, arresting, and breathtaking. Awe vistas and experiences have similar descriptives giving credence to the idea that artwork is awe inspiring (Katz, 2019).

Historically being a culture of oral tradition, sung poetry holds much cultural significance. Songs are passed down from generations and usually express physical life, beauty, and love. For the Hmong, singing relieves stress, serves as an accompaniment to farming, during

courtship and mourning. Various wind and string instruments are used to make music, as well (Thao, 2006). Music increases social connectedness and elicits positive emotion and feelings of arousal but, depending on the personality of the individual and the type of music, it may or may not elicit awe (Pilgrim et al., 2017).

The story cloth uses the same textile techniques as a flower cloth but shows stories of Hmong culture and history. The purpose of story cloths is to pass history from generation to generation, such as Hmong folktales, details of the Secret War, farming, and the history of the Hmong people (McCall, 1999).

Cultural Intersection within the United States

Migration to the United States created a cultural intersection between a strong-willed, collectivist Hmong culture and the dominant American individualistic culture (Lee, 1996). To keep the Hmong culture alive, the Hmong culture had to adapt and modernize, i.e., acculturate but not completely assimilate (Lee, 1996). This is most evident in adaptations in traditional religious practices. Hmong-religion is at the center of their culture, as such, the impacts of acculturation touches every aspect of Hmong life.

In America, Hmong were required to make concessions on how traditional customs were practiced, impacting birth, marriage, funerals, and healing. (DeSantiago, 2020a; Penzin-Perez et al., 2005; Xiong et al., 2020). These concessions impacts well-being, and spiritual and personal identity.

Cultural Impacts of Relocation

Hmong people who came to the United States faced many challenges, such as language barriers, culture shock, food insecurity, transportation barriers, and limited support and resources (Xiong, 2020). Traditionally, Hmong families lived in close communities, supporting one

another. However, due to the circumstances of government-sponsored relocation, many Hmong families found themselves isolated, living in cities far apart. Many experienced poor conditions in refugee camps, traumatic memories of the civil war and Vietnam War era, and experienced having to flee their homeland and separate from their families, resulting in generational fractures (Twin Cities Public Television, 2017).

Due to variability amongst Hmong clans, a single definition of Hmong identity and culture does not exist; however, retaining fundamental values and ethics clarifies what it means to be Hmong. The Hmong are strong-willed people that are fiercely independent as a collective community (Lee, 1966). Key culture characteristics are respect for ancestors, a belief in the collective, the importance of family, and resiliency (Lee, 1996).

In America, traditional Hmong beliefs are subject to significant acculturation (DeSantiago, 2020a). Acculturation is when two disparate cultures intersect. Acculturation influences how a person feels about traditional, culture-bound gender roles. Intergenerational conflicts arise and mental health suffers (Birman, 2011). Acculturation in the U.S. also impacts sense of self, as one shifts from a collectivist orientation to an Americanized individualistic identity (Lee, 1996; Tatman, 2004). American culture continues to affect the Hmong culture and blur the lines of what it means to be Hmong (Lee, 1996; Her et al., n.d.-c).

Asian parents who are immigrants often keep their traditional values, culture, and lifestyles while living in the United States rather than adapting to the American culture. In contrast, their children and young adults are more likely to acculturate due to the influence of peers, media, society, and school (Lee et al., 2008). Hmong adolescents struggle to keep sound relationships with their parents due to their different viewpoints. Intergenerational conflicts occur due to dissonance acculturation - when parents and children have different cultural expectations

from each other. This can cause family conflicts and result in lack of family support (Lee et al., 2008). This is seen in Hmong family and community behaviors where parents express concern that their children will embrace American culture and reject their own culture and traditions (Lee et al., 2008) and Hmong children born in the United States are less likely to seek their parents for cultural and life skills support. Instead, they are more likely to seek emotional and nurturing help from their peers due to their parents' strict nature (Lee et al., 2008).

Acculturation impacts religion too. Hmong communities across America are limited in their ability to perform traditional cultural activities due to regulations that do not permit animal sacrifices or other landlord-tenant restrictions. This has led to mental anguish and ill health (DeSantiago, 2020a). If traditional healing practices (shamanism and animism) are discontinued or assimilated, the Hmong elders are afraid the traditions will slowly die (Her et al., n.d.-c). This acculturation is compounded by conversion from traditional Hmong Animism or Shamanic religious practices to Christianity, resulting in further cultural shifts (Religions in Minnesota, n.d.).

Several studies look at the intersection of traditional Hmong healing practices and the doctrines of Western medicine (DeSantiago, 2020a; Nuttall & Flores, 1997; Sparks, 2014). Many Hmong will only utilize Western doctors as a last resort if traditional medicine does not cure or heal the body (Sparks, 2014). Surgery is avoided to prevent soul-spirit escape and evil spirits from entering the body (Nuttall & Flores, 1997). Collier et al. (2012) suggest that acculturation results in PTSD, anxiety, social stress, somatoform disorders, and depression. A change in spiritual beliefs may result in cultural psycho-spiritual conflict as the Hmong confront forming a new cultural identity (De Santiago, 2020a; Her et al., n.d.-c; Tatman, 2004). Today, Hmong living in America have higher rates of being diagnosed with depression, the lowest help-seeking

behaviors (utilizing Western medicine), and the lowest average of "happiness" compared with the general population (Lee & Chang, 2012).

Spiritual and Awe Experiences in Second-Generation Hmong

The interplay between generations and cultures influence how spirituality is understood and experienced among second-generation Hmong (Vang, 2001). Similarly, Lee (2016) finds that varying religious practices and degrees of acculturation among second-generation Hmong influence their perceptions of spiritual health, and attitudes of health overall.

Cultural norms also play a role in experiencing awe. Silva Luna & Bering (2020) find that an individual raised in a tradition where experiences of awe are present will likely find the same experiences to elicit awe. Researchers have not investigated if or how second-generation Hmong experience spirituality or awe. This limits collective understanding about whether this population can access this phenomena's holistic well-being benefits.

Summary and Research Question

Acculturation in America complicates Hmong people's lived experiences of spirituality and awe; the myriad of intergenerational Hmong religious, language and intercultural practices complicate their meaning. Based on studies of spirituality and awe, we suspect that Hmong people may have experienced awe with a negative valence from their lived experiences of displacement, relationship with war, during certain spiritual shamanic rituals and with a positive valence through their close connection to nature, and religious and spiritual practices that reinforce connection to ancestors or God. We know that experiences of awe can be spiritual catalysts, and that spirituality is essential to well-being. Some Hmong have lost touch with traditional spiritual practices through the effects of religious conversion, relocation, and acculturation, potentially limiting how second-generation Hmong access spirituality's benefits.

Researchers have not yet investigated if or how second-generation Hmong experience spirituality and awe. Therefore, through post-positivist constructivist lenses, our research question is to describe the lived experiences of spirituality and awe among second-generation Hmong in Minnesota.

Lenses

This chapter defines and describes the theoretical framework and pertinent personal and professional lenses that have influenced the design, implementation, and interpretation of our research. We review our professional and personal lenses to include our personal paradigms, epistemologies, ontologies, and axiologies. Within these lenses we highlight assumptions, implicit biases, and potential limitations that influence this project's design, implementation, and interpretation. As researchers, we must share this information so that our audience can better understand the study design, methodology selection, data analysis, and interpretation.

Theoretical Framework

Hmong epistemology incorporates the physical, internal, and spiritual levels to encompass love, ritual, compassion, and gratitude (Vue & Mouavangsou, 2021). There are three parts to Hmong epistemology: The first is a spirituality epistemology which includes life, art, and culture (Vue & Mouavangsou, 2021). The second is that Hmong identity, Hmong culture, and Hmong politics are diverse and fragmented due to various oppressions throughout history. Lastly, is the overarching importance of spirituality (Vue & Mouavangsou, 2021). The theoretical framework of holism, with its emphasis on the spiritual component of our lives, helps frame Minnesota Hmong's lived experiences. Holism provides a framework for exploring spirituality and awe experiences among the Hmong people.

Holism

Holism is an approach where the whole body, individual, mind, and universe are important because each part interconnects with the whole (Cmich, 1979; Jörgenfelt, 2019). Erickson (2007) defines holism at the individual level as an integration of the mind, body, and spirit, and that these components are inseparable. Holism embraces the tenet that as humans we

are interconnected with each other and all things universal (Cmich, 1979; Erickson, 2007; Jörgenfelt, 2019).

This theory influenced the development of this research project by helping the researchers understand the Hmong's views on spiritual interconnectedness (Erickson, 2007; Jörgenfelt, 2019). The principles of holism are traceable to Taoism (older contemporary Confucious), where entities and systems are interdependent (Cmich, 1979). Hmong share the ethics of Confucious valuing the interconnectedness of community and family; thus, the components of holism lend themselves well to Hmong cultural values (Chanson, 1993).

By tapping into this overarching holistic concept, that we are more than the sum of our parts, we can more openly approach another culture's lived experiences, better analyze and interpret such experiential data, and understand how these experiences influence our overall well-being.

Personal and Professional Lenses

Our team brings together an array of personal and professional experience to this research. Each brings strengths, limitations, experiences, and biases that impact the design, implementation, and interpretation of this project. As we approach this study through a constructivist lens, here we acknowledge the impact that our individual personal and professional lenses have on the entire research process.

Mai

I am Hmong and my family practices animism and shamanism. I believe that knowledge can be gained through experiences. It is from the positive and negative experiences that we gain a deeper understanding of ourselves and the world around us. I look at life through a social lens meaning that every person has their own thoughts and interpretations of life based on their own

experiences. I get to learn different perspectives and embed their words of wisdom into my life. Sometimes I ask questions about my own existence in life. There is free will to a certain extent and that everyone agreed to their own life contract before reincarnation. These beliefs are from my upbringing and religious beliefs. I value meaningful discussions about life and experiences, equality, and honesty. These morals have informed my research methods following the ethics of research. I am a methodological person who likes to organize things in an orderly way which fits with the data analysis portion of this research. I process information more slowly than others and that is okay too. I tend to overthink and sometimes the thinking draws itself like a piece of artwork. My thoughts are like stars; so many ideas and emotions that words cannot describe. Through my constructivist views, these thoughts are fascinated by experiences. I feel I can grow spiritually by learning about people's life experiences.

Spirituality is like a close friend to me; it has always been around me throughout my college career. Being away from home while studying in college has given me a chance to reflect on my life, myself, and my spiritual beliefs. I relied on my intuition and my ancestors for answers in the search for truth and my vocation. My own life experiences - from every experience of solitude, every sadness, and happiness - have contributed to the development of my epistemological views. Throughout my time as an undergraduate in college, I always wondered about my own culture and spirituality. My undergraduate research papers about the Hmong culture sparked my interest in learning more about my own culture and the Hmong traditions.

Throughout my professional experiences, I have observed and experienced awe in many different forms. I have been working with children at an Early Learning Center for a few years now and had the honor of working with many people from different walks of life. We encourage

young students to explore, have wonderment, enjoy life, and to have respect for all forms of human spirituality. The kindness from others, the laughter of children, different facial expressions of joy, and simple gestures give me feelings of wonderment. I have practiced mindfulness meditation during my times of loneliness and found contentment in nature. Through these beautiful experiences, I have learned to nurture my self-compassion. Once I gave myself compassion and love, I viewed the world differently and more spiritually.

After being introduced to awe experiences from Megan, thoughts came back to me as if knocking on my door: My father telling us stories about how my shaman grandfather would have to travel to cure the sick and help those who lost their souls in the spirit world. I have so many questions about the soul, but my grandfather is no longer here with us. I recall my mother's stories of when she was younger: Whenever she heard the leaf being blown (tshuab nplooj), she would tell me how much it reminded her of Grandpa and how much she missed him, her childhood back in Laos, and sewing story cloths (paj nstaub). Do Hmong people find tshuab nplooj or story cloths healing, and do they elicit feelings of awe? I often look at my parents wondering how they felt about spirituality and what an awe experience is like for them. My father never spoke about his emotions. It makes me wonder how he really feels inside. What makes him feel awe? This is how I became interested in this research project: my thirst to understand Hmong spirituality and awe experiences.

I have contributed my knowledge about the Hmong culture to a certain extent. I was super happy when my research colleagues wanted to do research about the Hmong people and their experiences. I have been feeling ashamed of myself when I knew so little about my people. This was an opportunity for me to learn more about Hmong people and myself. Bias may come from my own experiences. Some of the things I have learned about the Hmong culture is through

personal experiences and previous research studies, but something tells me I have much more to learn. History is so important because it is part of who we are. To learn about one's history means appreciating what we have at the present moment and that is exactly where I am right now. I want to be the melody from the blowing sounds of the leaf and guide the healing winds into the ears of my Hmong people. I want to let them know that it is okay to have a mind of their own and interpret life in their own way, unrestricted by culture or traditional beliefs.

Megan

As a researcher, I don't believe that perfect knowledge is possible in human form. Humans often have difficulty discerning truths, we are vulnerable to emotional thinking that interferes with an unbiased, honest picture of reality. Further, cultural, ideological, and political contexts influence our perceptions and judgments of reality. We must rely on multiple ways of knowing: rationalism (reason), empiricism (sensory data), and subjectivism (intuition, personal experience). There is, however, an ultimate Knower, an ultimate truth and I know this is possible by faith. Knowledge exists on the continuum of objectivism and subjectivism. It is incomplete and subject to revision. Ultimately, we choose what to believe.

As a researcher, my emerging epistemology is a paradoxical blend of rationalism and empiricism, it takes the wisdom of a village to build confidence in what is knowable. My ontology is a balance of idealism and realism and fits most adequately between the post-positivist and constructivist paradigms. My axiology is Biblical and influenced by the gospel of Jesus Christ; I value love and understanding and seek to serve others with their healing.

As a nurse, I recognize the importance of human connection and purpose. The search for meaning and purpose is life's greatest undertaking. A lack of purpose or meaning impacts the whole person and their quality of life. In my collaboration with spiritual care providers from

various religions, I understand the universally vital role of spirituality for holistic well-being, and especially during adversity. Spiritual pain can be manifested emotionally and physically. This type of pain is exchanged intergenerationally and held on a collective level until it is acknowledged and healed. This understanding falls in line with my biblical beliefs of spiritual battles and with Hmong cosmology in that we are all influenced by a spiritual realm.

I brought this perspective into every aspect of the research design from how I interpreted the literature review, the purpose of the research question, to data collection and analysis.

Leaving room to discuss data and reflect on the deepest possible intention of meaning, yet always searching to find the good in all circumstances. God works all things out for our greatest good, even when we do not understand, and even when we endure suffering. Ultimately, humankind are descendants of a single common ancestor, literally brothers and sisters; this transforms how I exist in this world. It influenced the theoretic lenses chosen to frame the research and the elements of study design; opting to seek first to understand. Interpretation and proposed implications were further impacted as I listened with spiritual ears, I was resistant to perpetuating division by class, race, or religion etc.

For this project, I offer a sincere curiosity for the emotion of awe, spiritual and religious experiences and holistic health. As far as awe, I know the Holy Spirit, which gives a sense of peace and an innate knowledge that I am eternally loved and God is always working. This reverence for God, and my identity in Christ are impossible for me to bracket. This influenced all areas of this project as I view us all to be soul and body, woven together, interconnected as a humanity, the sum no more important than each part.

Like the Hmong culture, I have a deep appreciation for my ancestors and strive to make choices that will honor them. My experiences have enabled me to empathize with the

experiences of broken families, lost identity, and rejection. I believe in the supernatural power of God. While I remained careful not to impose my personal lens onto the experiences of others, I do view adversity from a strength-based perspective. I approached this research humbly, leaving room for revelations and revisions that will last far beyond the project's completion.

Sheri

My ontology is that reality is socially constructed. I believe that we each live in a different reality because we each experience the world differently. We interpret the world differently because our social environments and contexts differ. My epistemology is that I gain knowledge by building upon previously learned social experiences. I base my axiology upon my social upbringing and culture, a blend of low socioeconomic status, Catholic, Midwestern, White, and feminine. My lived experiences influence my axiology. I interpret my values from my social construct. They are different from the values of my research colleagues because our contexts are different, and our realities are different. As a constructivist, I value that research is subjective; nothing is ever truly objective. These personal insights informed how I interpreted and analyzed our research data. When I reviewed the data, I highlighted key words or phrases that resonated with me; I pulled out direct quotes that were spiritually impactful to me; I searched for new knowledge to grow my construct of the meaning of awe and spiritual experiences.

I bring my Western interpretation and lived experience of awe and spirituality to this project. I do believe we are all spiritually interconnected. These beliefs and experiences attracted me to this project. It has been vital for me to be conscious of these beliefs throughout our data collection and analysis to remain as impartial as possible. These potential implicit biases were part of the debate that molded the questions crafted and the design of our semi-structured

interview. I was aware of my cultural biases while refining the instrumentation questions, during data collection and analysis, and drawing conclusions from the results. Without this awareness, our results may have had significant flaws.

I brought my professional experience as a qualitative researcher to this project. Thus, I brought some experience as an interviewer providing trustworthiness and credibility to our data collection process. I acknowledged that, as an interviewer, I am also an instrument. I brought my professional experience as a surgeon that has filled me with many awe-inspiring moments. They were life-affirming, life-altering, and transformative moments compelling me to explore the intersection of awe and spirituality.

Method

This chapter will describe the constructivist paradigm, phenomenological culture of inquiry, and semi-structured interview method that we used to answer our research question:

What are the lived spirituality and awe experiences within second-generation Hmong living in Minnesota? First, we will provide a rationale for our paradigm, culture of inquiry, and interview method. Next, we will delineate our sampling method, instrumentation, data collection, and data analysis. To follow, we discuss design rigor, protection of human subjects, and assess the strengths/limitations of our overall study design.

Rationale for Constructivist Paradigm

We approached this research through the constructivist paradigm lens. The constructivist paradigm's epistemology asserts that what is knowable is subjective and relative to interactions between the knower and that which is to be known. Meaning is derived from individuals and groups (Lincoln & Guba, 2000), with the understanding that we make sense of the world within the context of social and historical perspectives (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

The constructivist paradigm's ontological and epistemological base is subjective relativism, with only consensus therein forming shared realities. Bullock, Stallybrass & Trombley (1977) further posit the view that "beliefs and principles, particularly evaluative ones, have no universal or timeless validity but are valid only for the age in which, or the social group or individual person by which they are held" (p. 736). Rather than apply a broad understanding to a complex topic like present-day spirituality, the constructivist paradigm offers the possibility for a current and relevant understanding of how second-generation Hmong experience spirituality and awe from their perspectives and in this era.

We recognize that people may hold both similar and disparate views about the nature of reality within and across cultural groups. For example, it is impossible for researchers to fully set aside their individual and cultural biases, and not all researchers conducting this study are second-generation Hmong. Nor is this setting aside necessarily desired. Within the constructivist paradigm, researchers interact with subjects, access multiple views of reality and together co-construct data and sometimes the meaning itself. This can be seen as both a limitation as to the purity of subject data but a strength resulting in co-constructed meaning. Another limitation of constructivist research is its relative, intangible, internal nature; the researcher's interpretation of the participants' reality is subject to the same limitation (Appleton, 1997). Therefore, research designed through the lens of this paradigm must select a culture of inquiry and methodology that provides adequate rigor.

Rationale for the Phenomenology Culture of Inquiry

Phenomenology is the study of an individual's lived experience as they interact with the world around them (Neubauer et al., 2019; Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Individuals experience and interpret the world around them within the context of their lived experiences (Neubauer et al., 2019; Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The flow of everyday existence leads to the formation of experience - or phenomena; such phenomena and memories or it can be described, recalled, or reflected upon. Phenomenological research questions the essence of such phenomena, asking for example, what is the experience of spirituality and awe through the participant's lens (van Manen, 2014; Moustakas, 1994). Therefore, phenomenology is an ideal culture of inquiry for describing second-generation Hmong adult's lived experience. Employing phenomenology, we can examine the subjective experiences of the phenomena, and the subjective meanings derived

from these experiences (Barrow, 2017; Chan & Chein, 2013; Creswell & Creswell, 2018 Moustakas, 1994; Neubauer et al., 2019; van Manen, 2014).

While phenomenology has its strengths, there are some weaknesses. Participants may be unable to express or articulate their experiences about spirituality and awe due to age, cognitive factors, and other barriers (van Manen, 2014 & Barrow, 2017). Using this method to focus on the experience of phenomena may result in a need for more information about what caused the experience, the outcomes or consequences of the experience, and other factors associated with the experience (Barrow, 2017). Due to the amount of qualitative data gathered, analyzing the data can be difficult and interpreting the data may become time-consuming and labor-intensive (Barrow, 2017). As researchers, we believe it is impossible to truly suspend one's judgments and preconceptions through bracketing (descriptive phenomenology). Thus, we will implement Heidegger's interpretive approach to phenomenology (Tuohy et al., 2013). A limitation of interpretive phenomenology is knowability, i.e., the inability to know the validity of the data. These studies may have limitations secondary to the naivety of the interviewer, incorrect questions being asked to frame the topic, and literal moments being lost in translation or transcription (Galletta, 2013).

Rationale for the Semi-Structured Interview Method

Our culture of inquiry, interpretive phenomenology, lends itself well to data collection through conducting interviews (Galletta, 2003; Wengraf, 2001). Our research question is about the participants' lived experience, therefore conducting semi-structured interviews can help us gather information about the individual's personal experiences and beliefs about a phenomenon simply by asking them questions relative to that experience (Dejonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). The interview method poses questions in the form of a conversation to obtain new information

from the subject's perspective. The strength of utilizing a semi-structured interview design allows us to begin with a topic of interest and, through open-ended questions, allow the conversation to evolve. A conversation is a social experience. It allows for the possibility of new, not-as-yet theorized descriptions of lived experiences that may lead to new questions. It demands an open mind and respect for the process. Semi-structured interview method aligns with the constructivist paradigm (Wengraf, 2001) that frames our research. The interview structure may grow as more interviews are conducted to confirm the original data obtained, adding a level of validity and trustworthiness to the inferences made from the interview responses (Wengraf, 2001).

The semi-structured design allows for improvisation, which may result in unintentionally asking the wrong questions, this may cause some interviewees to withhold answers or refrain from answering questions, and some may be difficult to engage throughout the entire interview (Dejonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). However, improvised questions also allow for the possibility of gleaning a richer descriptive quality of the responses. The multiplicity of interviewers adds another layer for errors and biases to be mixed into the data collection and analysis (Wengraf, 2001). Some interviewers may be more skilled at asking improvised questions, while other, more naive interviewers may bring a more open-minded freshness to the interview dynamic. As researchers, awareness of these factors is paramount during the interview and during data analysis.

There are limitations to using Zoom for a semi-structured interview. Our body language and facial expressions may influence how the participant responds (Johnson et al., 2020). The interviewer's prior knowledge, misinformation, expertise, ignorance, and implicit biases may limit the conversation (Wengraf, 2001). The naivety of the researchers as interviewers adds an

unknown dimension of social and cultural differences, age and gender differences, and the ability to build rapport (Green & Thorogood, 2004). The interviewee in a semi-structured interview also has limitations, such as recall bias and social desirability (Green & Thorogood, 2004). Other more basic limitations are time constraints, access to subjects, as well as the cost of transcription (Galletta, 2013).

Sampling

To ensure that the participant data addresses the research aim, participants must be second-generation Hmong living in Minnesota. To do this, we used a non-probability convenience sampling with snowballing. The reasoning behind using both methods is to reach a broad range of second-generation Hmong within the Twin Cities metro area. To reach a broad and diverse participant pool, we recruited via our flyers (Appendix A) posted within the Hmong cultural center, Hmong stores, and Hmong Churches located within the Little Mekong District in St. Paul and the St. Catherine University campus. St. Catherine University students were not the target population; however, our flyers were posted on the campus to reach a broad audience of potential participants. A benefit of recruiting through Facebook and bulletin board marketing is the ease for potential subjects to share about the study and increase the number of prospective participants. Our flyers indicated the study's purpose, our contact email address, the QR code, participant requirements, and incentives. All participation was listed as voluntary.

The target subjects were 18 years or older, English-speaking, and identified as second-generation Hmong willing to share their experiences of spirituality and awe. The ability to speak English and understand the language was part of an inclusion criteria. We chose not to translate the interview due to differences in dialects spoken and the limitations in the literal translation of certain words such as "awe." Second-generation refers to children or adults born to

at least one foreign-born parent or who immigrated to the United States before the age of 10 (Portes et al., 2001). A strength of our selection process is that the Minneapolis-St Paul metro area is home to the largest reported Asian-alone demographic: Hmong. In the Twin Cities metro, the Hmong account for 81,132 people (Budiman, 2021).

A snowball sampling method is used to find eligible subjects through recommendations made by other individuals who know about the study (Crouse & Lowe, 2018). Non-probability sampling and snowball sampling can help researchers find participants who may be difficult to trace in a short duration of time when needed (Crouse & Lowe, 2018; Qualtrics, 2022). While non-probability sampling may be inexpensive, it may result in an imbalanced sample as participants refer from their circle (Qualtrics, 2022). In our study, Hmong adults who identify as second-generation may be difficult to pinpoint unless a snowball sampling occurs.

Non-probability convenience sampling and the snowball sampling methods were effective in gathering participants. A limitation of this sampling method is that potential subjects may refer friends and family members of the same socioeconomic status, inadvertently biasing the research and diminishing the validity of the results (Crouse & Lowe, 2018; Qualtrics, 2022; Given, 2008). Researchers recruited participants until thematic data analysis reached saturation (Kiger & Varpio, 2020).

Potential participants scanned the QR code on the flier, which took them to a Google interest form (Appendix A). On the Google interest form, we asked for their name, contact email, and phone number. Once we received the interest form, we emailed an informed consent form for the participants to review on their own. We then scheduled a Zoom session to review the informed consent. After this session and a 24-hour waiting period, interested participants signed the consent form and emailed it to us. The consent form contained an option to receive a \$25 gift

card. The gift card was given upon completion of the research interview. The offering of remuneration risks the possibility of swaying our subject pool to specific socio-economic strata. We limited this issue by keeping the gift amount modest, optional, and available at the time of the interview rather than holding it until the end of transcription.

Instrumentation

A semi-structured interview guide was our instrument of choice. Researchers can gain a deeper understanding of the phenomena using interview guides to set a comfortable tone, create a safe environment for participants, and ask about personal experiences of spirituality and awe (Peoples, 2021). Our Interview Guide (Appendix B) contained semi-structured interview questions and definitions of awe and spirituality developed based on our review of the literature. Researchers began the interview defining awe experiences and spirituality. After this informational warm up, we asked participants to reflect on and share: (a) their experience(s) of awe, (b) their experience(s) of spirituality, and (c) if there is any significance that these experience(s) hold for them. The interview guide was pilot tested with three volunteers from within the population sample to ensure that the questions were easily understood and that they were phrased in such a way as to prompt reflections on the desired phenomena. We adjusted the guide accordingly before use in data collection. This pilot testing added to the reliability and trustworthiness of the instrument and data outcomes.

Researchers are also instruments in this study as they actively analyze the data, review transcriptions, and obtain the data (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Pezalla et al., 2012). We engaged with our participants through non-verbal cues, went off script to ask more detailed probing questions from participant to participant to elicit the desired phenomena. We brought our own cultural and historical experiences to the conversation, whether we were cognizant of them or not

(Pezalla et al., 2012). Thus, researchers must continually employ reflexivity to bring awareness of how we directly affect our research participants and processes (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). We pursued personal self-reflection throughout this entire research journey by reflecting together as a group on the interviews and transcription process and reflecting individually on our research logs. It was critical for us to find meaningful outcomes from our data during the data analysis phase; we employed reflexivity and restraint, looking to the participant's words and meaning to construct our findings.

We understand there may be some issues with being instruments to the study. During an interview, interviewers may be unsuccessful in probing or asking for follow-up questions, not actively listening, using an interview guide that lacks open-ended questions, and asking insensitive questions (Dejonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). To maintain a balance between the rigor of research and the focus of interviewing, we emphasized active listening, using clear language, demonstrating empathy, and maintaining open-mindedness in accepting the participant's beliefs and experiences (Dejonckheere & Vaughn, 2019).

Data Collection Procedures

Once consent was given and our forms signed, we arranged one-on-one Zoom interview appointments with each participant. Consent was verbally reinforced immediately before the interview started. We reminded participants that participation is voluntary, they can end the interview at any time, and all interview transcripts will be confidential. We then proceeded with the interviews, which ranged in time from 15 minutes to an hour. After recording the Zoom meeting, and transcribing the interview through OTTER, researchers reviewed the transcription. We contacted the participant with an offer/option to schedule a meeting to review the

transcription to ensure accuracy or clarify any items during the interview. Finally, a \$25 gift card was emailed to participants who elected remuneration.

Data Analysis

We employed interpretive phenomenological analysis (IPA) to analyze participant data. IPA is a methodology for analyzing qualitative data that derives strength from its ability to explore and describe participants' lived experiences (Smith & Osborn, 2015). We selected IPA as an approach to data analysis for its ability to bring respect and meaning to personal lived experiences. It allows us to make sense of others' lived experiences in a methodical way to produce a quality result (Smith & Osborn, 2015). We focused on the participants while acknowledging that we, as the interviewer, are also part of the equation (Smith & Osborn, 2015). The process of IPA requires us to continually self-reflect and have transparency with the final product. In interpretive phenomenology, we do this by use of the hermeneutic circle which results in ongoing revision and upgrading of our interpretation of the data (Peoples, 2020). We utilized the hermeneutic circle method of analysis that Heidegger's interpretive phenomenology uses where there is continual review and analysis between the parts and the whole to offer a deeper understanding (Tuohy et al., 2013).

A way to employ the hermeneutic circle is through journaling and ongoing discussion with co-researchers. With each revision of a preconception comes new meaning(s) (Peoples, 2020). The actual steps follow the basic principles of inductive research, searching across a data set to identify, analyze, and report repeated patterns. It is a methodology for describing data, but it also involves interpretation in constructing themes. Interpretative phenomenological analysis, as put forth by Alase (2017), provides an ideal alignment of this methodology with the purpose of our

research. The article is a guide for novice qualitative researchers. This method of interpretive structural thematic analysis consists of several steps:

- 1. The researchers self-reflect, describing their personal lived experience of the phenomenon to be studied an awareness of the inability to completely bracket.
- 2. The researchers need a baseline appreciation and respect for the phenomenon.
- 3. The data needs to be transcribed verbatim.
- 4. Researchers then familiarize themselves with the data, which entails repeated reading through the data.
- 5. Identify meaningful and non-overlapping statements.
- 6. From these statements, search for meaningful units or themes that group the statements.
- 7. Write *what* the participants experienced.
- 8. Write *how* the participants experienced the phenomenon.
- 9. Ensure the trustworthiness and validity of the process.
- 10. Write up the final data analysis and description of findings for public dissemination, providing an active narrative of the research journey.

We followed the aforementioned steps of IPA to arrive at the resultant themes describing second-generation Hmong's lived experience of awe and spirituality.

Design Rigor

Rigor is the *trustworthiness* of a research study and can be achieved when "the research design, method, and conclusions are explicit, public, replicable, open to critique, and free of bias" (Johnson et al., 2020, pg. 145) and the results can be trusted to be both reliable and valid. To establish trustworthiness in our research study, we describe the various ways we exercised

rigor throughout our study processes: reflexivity, triangulation, member-checking, and explanation of researcher bias.

Reflexivity

Reflexivity is when researchers reflect and are aware of their knowledge, biases, and how their role in the study, interpersonal, and personal experiences influence the direction of the study (Olmos-Vega et al., 2022; Creswell & Creswell, 2018). We demonstrated reflexivity by journaling our thoughts and documenting any concerns and reflections throughout the research to reduce threats to validity. We held group meetings to discuss our reflections. Journaling helped us critically reflect on our interviews and throughout the data analysis and interpretation process (Olmos-Vega et al., 2022; Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Johnson et al., 2020).

Triangulation

Triangulation involves using multiple sources of information, methods of data collection, and multiple researchers in the analysis to bring about a deeper understanding of the data (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). We have embraced this concept during our literature review approaching our topic of interest from multiple sources. In data analysis each researcher independently reviews each transcript searching for themes. Notes were compared as a method of triangulation and themes further refined. In our discussion section, we compared and contrasted our results with others in the academic community to demonstrate either coherence or important aspects of dissonance.

Member Checking

Member checking is another form of reflexivity. We strengthened our rigor by offering participants the option to schedule an appointment to review their transcript after they completed the interview. Olmos-Vega et al. (2022) believe collaboration with participants is done by

including them in the reflexivity process. Doing so validates the accuracy of their interpretation of a phenomenon.

Explanation of Researcher Bias

Confirmation bias is often an implicit bias. It underscores the possibility that researchers will only find meaning in results that align with our preconceived notions or hopeful anticipated research outcomes. As the interviewers, we are part of the study instrumentation and bring our own experiences of spirituality and awe to the conversation. Confirmation bias was a topic of awareness during our data analysis group sessions. It has a profound ability to impact our data collection and data analysis. It was vital for us to not discredit results that did not conform to expected outcomes and keep an open mind to unexpected findings (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

Protection of Human Subjects

Risks and Benefits of Participation

There were no direct benefits to the study participants other than the knowledge that they are contributing to the academic literature regarding second-generation Hmong experiences of spirituality and awe. At the same time, there was minimal risk to the participants. However, the researchers acknowledge that the interview questions could elicit unexpected emotions and spiritual connection. To minimize these risks, informed consent delineated this potential risk. At the time of the interview, the participants were reminded of the potential for emotional and spiritual triggers. The subjects were also reminded that their participation is entirely voluntary. They had an option to end the interview at any time and decline to answer any or all of the questions. They were able to withdraw their data until February 21, 2023. At the end, we offered mental health resources to address any mental health concerns that inadvertently arose during the interview.

Confidentiality

Participant data was kept confidential. Recorded interview sessions were securely stored digitally on St. Catherine University's approved Box web platform. This data was auto-transcribed through the OTTER application: OTTER utilizes 2-factor authentication, TLS encryption, and AES-256-bit encryption to maintain the security and confidentiality of data. The researchers reviewed the transcribed data with participants that requested this option via a non-recorded screen-sharing Zoom. We removed all potentially identifying markers after the final transcription. The de-identified data were stored on the St. Catherine University Box application and on St. Kate's password-protected Google Drive. We will permanently delete identifiable data from the Box application no later than April 29, 2023.

Incentives

Researchers worked with Sponsored Programs, Research & External Engagement (SPREE) at St. Kate's to distribute the incentives. SPREE follows IRS regulations and supports researchers in maintaining participant confidentiality. Each subject was given a choice (yes or no) on the consent form to receive an electronic incentive of a \$25 Target Gift Card. Subjects were given the gift card after they completed the interview. Based on SPREE's policy, researchers filled out the participant incentive log form to keep track of those who chose to receive the incentive. To protect participant privacy, a participant's name or identification number was assigned to each incentive identification number with initials. The log was maintained throughout the study, and SPREE kept a copy on file.

Design-Specific Strengths and Limitations

Every research design has strengths and weaknesses. In this section, we reflect on the strengths and limitations of our research design.

Strengths

We purposefully crafted this research to create a strong alignment between the study question and the design framework, methodology, and instrumentation. We situated the research within the theoretical framework of holism as it integrated our constructivist paradigm and phenomenological culture of inquiry with our desire to describe lived spiritual and awe experiences. The semi-structured interview, as an instrument, allowed for an in-depth personal conversation with the study participants as they described their experiences surrounding awe and spirituality. The unity of these foundational components brings design rigor to this project embedded within the background of a cohesive logic model.

We used member checking with the optional review of the transcript. This adds another level of trustworthiness to the outcome of our results. Providing the participants with the ability to verify the veracity of the transcripts ensures that, as researchers, we are not analyzing flawed data. This added credence to the themes that emerged from data analysis.

Limitations

This project required the development of a new interview instrument, a semi-structured interview guide. Our Western implicit biases potentially created a language barrier that we limited by adding introductory definitions of awe and spirituality experiences.m Our research team members ranged from having some-to-no experience with semi-structured interviews, limited experience working with people from the Hmong community, and faced challenges during the interview, such as language barriers. We, as researchers, understand that we are instruments, which may pose some limitations to the research design.

Our inclusion criteria limited subjects to those who were conversant in English leaving out the possibility of including a second-generation person who may be more heavily immersed

in their culture and prevent their voice from being represented. Our research design relied on technology, limiting subject participants to those comfortable and proficient with Google, Zoom, and QR codes or those with access to the technology. We recruited and interviewed participants during February 2023. This timeframe may limit our ability to find a more diverse participant pool.

These primary weaknesses were reduced by pilot testing the interview. This allowed us time to reflect on and improve our interview skills as well as hone the questions to improve the reliability and trustworthiness of the results. Consequently, we desired to add brief demographic optional questions. This interview modification required an amendment research approval by the IRB which was obtained prior to interview execution.

Results

The purpose of this chapter is to discuss the results of our study, which asks: What are the lived experiences of spirituality and awe among second-generation Hmong living in Minnesota? The results of this qualitative study begin with a description of the participants and relevant demographic data. Next, we present observational data. Finally, we present each of the themes that emerged from the data along with supportive documentation.

Description of the Participants

We collected the following demographics on our participants: age, gender, and religious/spiritual affiliation. Our study consisted of nine second-generation Hmong participants between the ages of 18-31, two male, and seven female, all who live in Minnesota. Five of the nine participants disclosed their religion as Animism, and of these five, two identified as Shaman. Four of the nine participants identified as Christian, and of these four, three specified themselves as Catholic. When asked about their religious or spiritual affiliation, several participants used the word "Shamanism" to interchangeably describe Animism. We de-identified each participant, assigned them a number, and correlated them with their self-disclosed spiritual affiliation to offer context to the supportive quotes within our findings.

Observational Data

Interviews were conducted entirely online and ranged from 15 - 60 minutes long on Zoom. Participants expressed interest in sharing their experiences from their own point of view. Many expressed gratitude for exploring the subject; explaining that few people desire to talk about the subject. Participants also noted that they had not deeply reflected on spirituality and awe experiences prior to the interview. All the participants answered the questions. When asked if they'd like to share anything else, two participants shared additional information about

spirituality and awe experiences. Beyond the observational data analysis, we arrived at a meta-theme expressing our participants' essential experience and four major themes.

Essential Experience and Main Themes

In analyzing our data to describe the lived experiences of spirituality and awe among second-generation adult Hmong living in Minnesota, we arrived at four major themes and a meta-theme or, *essential experience*. In the following sections, we describe this meta-theme, followed by major themes 1) *spirituality, connection, and purpose*, 2) *spiritual identity development*, 3) *senses and emotions*, and 4) *open-mindedness*, and offer supporting evidence in our participants' own words.

Meta theme: Essential Experience

Our participants expressed an essential experience that spirituality and awe experiences are intertwined, often involve sensations or strong emotions, and may result in a sense of interconnection, spiritual identity, purpose, and open-mindedness.

[Awe] created such emotion in me - sadness initially, but then there was so much happiness [it] invigorated my spirituality. (Participant 5, Catholicism)

[spirituality is] something that is experienced through the soul and held within the heart...it's something that you have to assess and understand and be open, open minded to without criticism. (Participant 1, Shaman; Animism)

spirituality is what helps me move forward with life - of knowing my purpose. (Participant 2, Shaman; Animism)

[awe experiences] kind of deepens connections [and is] linked to spirituality. You have a feeling like interconnect[ion]. (Participant 9, Christian)

This meta theme emerged from the following four themes. Combined, they provide a rich account of our participants' lived experiences.

Theme 1: Spirituality, Connection and Purpose

Spirituality is a personal experience that involves connection to something larger than oneself and is meant to serve a higher purpose. All nine participants described spirituality as a personal experience that involves connection to something larger than oneself and is meant to serve a higher purpose - whether that be God, ancestral, or other spirits. To our participants, spirituality was experienced during times of worship at a church, traditional shamanic ceremonies, or when alone.

Spirituality is more like your belief and what your connection with the higher power. (Participant 2, Shaman; Animism)

...we also have a soul, a spirit. And then there's more than just this physical world...spirituality is connecting with my soul, to other spirits, to God. (Participant 7, Catholicism)

...my [awe] experiences, it's like viewing the ocean, or just watching those waves come crashing, and I find I can link that to God... and just finding that I can fit in, in this bigger picture of this community of this world. And I connect that definitely to my spirituality. (Participant 6, Catholicism)

...because spirituality is more of like your growth in path on your connection with I guess what with oneself and your higher power; spiritual experiences, like your experience with spirit or this presence... (Participant 2, Shaman; Animism)

Participants explained that the purpose of experiencing spirituality is to reach their highest self.

There was emphasis on the interconnection between others and the desire to help others reach a higher level of well-being.

I experienced spirituality by seeing what my family does with shamanism and seeing how they tend to take care of their spirit and how they can help other people take care of their spirits. (Participant 3, Animism)

Through those spiritual experiences of my own, spirituality is what helps me move forward with life too of knowing my purpose. (Participant 2, Shaman; Animism)

How do I get in touch with my deepest self, my highest conscience, my greatest inner demons? How do I address them? And what do I do about them to bring balance? (Participant 2, Shaman; Animism)

Theme 2: Spiritual Identity Development

Spiritual or awe experiences each inspired reflection, causing one's spirituality or spiritual identity to feel strengthened, or developed. Experiences of awe also impacted spiritual beliefs. Participants described their awe experiences as heightening, deepening, or strengthening their spiritual beliefs. For some, awe was described as a transformative moment, taking them from skeptic to believer. Overall, awe experiences were impactful moments that had spiritual connotations. These moments often resulted in a deeper understanding or appreciation for cultural traditions.

[Awe experiences] help me understand who I am as a person. Also, a little bit of my culture and my religion, and it's also brought me a lot closer to my parents. It helped me understand why they do the things that we do or why they talk the way that they do. (Participant 3, Animism)

I dreamt that a cat had visited me. It was very vivid, like the cat was gray with stripes, kind of like a tiger. And so that morning, I woke up, and I told [my dad, who is a Shaman] this happened to me, it was kind of creepy. And he goes, Oh yeah, that cat visited me too. He said he [the cat] was just visiting. And then he proceeded to describe in detail what this cat looked like in my dream. And I was just awestruck. I was like, What the hell? Before that, I wasn't sure if I believed in everything about shamanism, but then my dad just described the thing in my dream to the detail. So, I was like, okay... all right. I guess it's legit (Participant 8, Animism).

One participant recalled an awe experience participating in a healing ceremony from an entirely different culture

...the Mayan healer pointed out and said that there's someone among you who has a very strong ancestral presence ... the Mayan healer pointed to me to say, "you have very strong ancestors who want to give you a gift to give you a power to help the world". I was just shocked...I had to reflect a little bit more about it because, you know, before my family converted to Catholicism, my family were one of the first to convert in Laos. But before our family converted to Catholicism, I did come from a line of ancestors who were shamans, very powerful shamans... So, when I heard the Mayan healer said that I was in awe... (Participant 7, Catholicism)

Our participants shared experiences of their spirituality being influenced by both Hmong and American culture. Conflict was sometimes expressed in the form of external or internal questioning:

Are you sure you're Catholic? Are you sure you're Christian? So that's something that I [have] struggled [with] balancing those identities... there's only a few people who will be willing to listen...I don't expect everyone to fully understand. (Participant 7, Catholic)

Balance my identity to being Hmong, but also being Catholic and believing that yes, I don't pray to my ancestors, like how other Hmong people do, but I do acknowledge that there are ancestral spirits. (Participant 7, Catholicism)

Growing up, I struggle a lot understanding shamanism, the practice that we do, and it's hard because as a child we asked - because we're like Americans, and we didn't grow up understanding shamanism and why we do it. So, it was really hard for my parents [to answer] my deep questions about those topics like oh, why do we do soul calling or why do we celebrate my new year every year and you know, why do we do this? And I didn't know and understand that, like, the deep meaning behind it. (Participant 4, Animism)

I feel like it could also just be like meditation or yoga or even prayers. I know that a lot of my religion beliefs is that we don't really pray because we're not Christian, but I feel like that kind of gives me some sort of spirituality....so I do pray. (Participant 4, Animism)

Theme 3: Senses and Emotions

Spiritual and awe experiences often overlap, being described in terms of sensory perception and experienced during moments of strong emotion. Spiritual and awe experiences were described in terms of sensory perception co-occurring with strong emotion. Participants described sensations such as sounds, smells, visions, physical touch and often paired these sensations occurring in the context of emotions. Particularly, strong emotions such as fear, surprise, or grief. Some of the experiences occurred during waking life, some during dreams, sleep paralysis, and during moments of prayer or ceremony.

like when you sometime [get] like goosebumps because maybe like a spirit is there, kind of thing. So, how I experienced spirituality is more of where I'm living in both worlds, if that makes sense; where there's the spirit world and there's the human world. (Participant 2, Shaman; Animism)

...one of the experiences of all in my life was when my biological dad passed away... I would say that that's probably one of the most negative heart wrenching awe moments of my life, because of what I saw and what I experienced with odors... I felt like I had no control over my emotions, my sadness... I could not control the tears, the tears just started flowing...there was nothing I could do. It was just overwhelming - so that's an example of awe in my life. (Participant 5, Catholic)

[describing struggle with illness] ... whatever evil it is, can you take it away? All of a sudden the pain just went away. (Participant 7, Catholic)

[recalling an experience of awe] I found out that my pregnancy was non-viable. So, it was like a mixture of like a fear of what's going to happen... So that was an experience of awe that happened to me that stuck with me for a while. (Participant 4, Animism)

[describing an awe experience] sitting on the shrine and experiencing a shaking that I cannot control and usually when you shake and out of body experiences, stuff like that. (Participant 1, Shaman; Animism)

Depending upon the experience, participants further described their perceptions of awe pairing with positive, negative, or mixed emotions.

I'm always amazed when my dad performs a ritual for somebody or spiritual building or whatever and it makes the problem go away. You know, it's like, he came to my dad and he did a ritual for you and it was able to help, it was able to help you heal and get better. I think that makes me go... that's pretty amazing to me. (Participant 8, Animism).

I consider these [spiritual] experiences to be, I will say bittersweet...some are actually very positive...and some are kinda devastating (Participant 1, Shaman; Animism)

And then how people are interacting with each other and helping each other. I could even say it as simply as I can find awe in a moment being a high school teacher, where students, instead of waiting for me to help them, they'll get up out of their seats and help each other. And to me, that's a big awe moment. ... So, it doesn't have to be something grand and amazing...but like, as simple as those...little kind of acts of kindness. I find awe on those. (Participant 6, Catholicism)

Theme 4: Open-Mindedness

As a capstone to the interview, we asked each participant if there was anything else that they wanted to share. An undercurrent in their responses was the need to be open-minded, open to the experience, open to possibilities and the path ahead. Two participants described awe experiences as "indescribable" or "unexplainable."

It's an experience where you can't put words to it like words alone, whether it's an English or Hmong, or any language. Can't describe it. It's like you had to be there to have seen, heard, experienced it, you know, to understand. (Participant 4, Animism)

People out there who are like, stuck, I would say just give it a chance to understand your spirit to take care of it too. So not just have one idea and think, oh, like that's it for the rest of their life. I would definitely say be open-minded. Listen to what the old generation has to say because after they're gone and they're gone...No one else really has any more knowledge than what the older people might know. (Participant 3, Animism)

... I feel like there's really a positive to everything... I feel like not a lot of people talk about sleep paralysis-they don't see it as a positive thing,.. or they see it as a negative alarm. "Why am I always experiencing these negative spiritual experiences?" They run away from it, or they shut down and they don't like to talk about it ...it's something that you have to assess and understand and be open, open minded to without criticism. (Participant 1, Shaman; Animism)

Overall, our participants expressed an essential experience that spirituality and awe experiences are intertwined, often involve sensations or strong emotions, and may result in a sense of interconnection, spiritual identity, purpose, and open-mindedness. The significance, implications, and limitations of these results will be further examined in the discussion section.

Discussion

This chapter presents the interpretation of our research findings as grounded in a constructivist lens and holistic framework. We show where our findings are consistent with the literature, examine any unexpected findings and study limitations. We then highlight any implications our findings have for holistic health in the Hmong community, and on future research.

Findings Supported by the Literature

In this section, we discuss the themes' relationship to existing literature, beginning with our meta-theme. Similar to Cohen et al. (2010), Saroglou et al. (2008), and Van Cappellen & Saroglou (2011) our participants expressed an essential experience that spirituality and awe experiences are intertwined, often involve sensations or strong emotions, and may result in a sense of interconnection, spiritual identity, purpose, and open-mindedness. This is supported by the literature that spiritual experiences involve emotions and evoke a feeling of connectedness with oneself, whereas awe experiences also elicit powerful emotions associated with spirituality (Cohen et al., 2010; Saroglou et al., 2008; Van Cappellen & Saroglou, 2011).

Senses and Emotions of Awe

One of our main results centered on the theme that awe and spiritual experiences were perceived during moments of strong emotion. This is not a surprising finding given that awe is an emotion itself; however, it is a complex emotion that is on a continuum ranging from fear to admiration (Keltner & Haidt, 2003). Our results are consistent with the previous literature, which describes that spiritual experiences include feelings of connection to all life, strength, comfort, and gratitude (Underwood & Tersi, 2002). Similarly, feelings of sadness or pain were described as being central to spiritual experiences and can result in positive transformation (Cohen et al.,

2010). Kearns & Tyler (2022) also linked awe to spiritual or religious feelings. Emotions and sensations are integral to both awe and spiritual experiences within the second-generation Hmong community.

Awe as positive or negative

Our findings also revealed that while awe was often described as a positive experience, our participants just as often experienced awe from negative, or fear-based experience. To date, there is no evidence that fear and awe experiences have well-being benefits that are associated with positive awe experiences; however, there is evidence that negative experiences still contribute to spiritual feelings (Preston & Shin, 2017; Gordon et al., 2017). How the experience is interpreted (positive or negative), and what resources the person has to process negative awe experiences will factor into the impact on the individual's well-being (Gorden et al., 2017).

Connection to something greater

Our findings support other literature suggesting thats awe experiences are at the core of spirituality and influence an individual's sense of self and connection to the world (Monroy & Keltner, 2023; Mehar, 2018; Saroglou et al., 2008; Valdesolo & Graham, 2014; Van Cappellen & Saroglou, 2011). Our findings suggest that an individual's spiritual identity is strengthened because of spiritual and awe experiences. As Underwood & Tersi, 2002, suggest, our participants expressed peace, comfort, and a connection with God or a connection to their own spirituality through spiritual and awe experiences. These common findings support the importance of spirituality for our well-being (Joseph et al., 2021).

Our participants express a connection to a higher power. Some participants expressed this connection occurring during spiritual experiences such as rituals or ceremonies (praying, Animism, and Shamanic religious practices). The concept that rituals are capable of instilling

awe is supported by the literature (Gordon et al., 2017; Preston & Shin, 2017; Yaden et al., 2020). However, literature specific to the Hmong people by DeSantiago (2020a), notes that specifically-named spirits are phasing out and becoming more of an *essence*, *spiritual sensation*, or *feeling*. The loss of specifically named spirits may be secondary to acculturation and the loss of spiritual conversation. There may also be a component of loss regarding Hmong language translation and the evolution of words themselves (Guerra, 2019).

Unexpected Findings

Our study had some unexpected findings including sleep paralysis, art and music, and the contemplation of the religious practice of Shamanism and Animism. These unexpected findings offer insight into intimate awe and spiritual experiences occurring among the second-generation Hmong population in Minnesota not reflected in the literature.

Sleep paralysis experiences stood out as a significant spiritual or awe-inducing event for two study participants. This prompted an exploration of the literature about sleep paralysis among Hmong and East Asian immigrants. Historical and ethnographic reports indicate that the experience of "dab tsog" (which translates into "a spirit sitting on top of you or a spirit that is heavy and on top of you") is not rare and is often experienced more than once (Young et al., 2013). Specific to traditional Hmong belief, sleep paralysis is described as an experience where a dab tsog spirit sits on the victim's chest causing paralysis, difficulty speaking, respiration issues, and anxiety or fear (Adler, 1991). The emotions of fear and perplexity described by our participants as a result of experiencing sleep paralysis are supported in the literature about negative awe. Our participants described sleep paralysis experiences as spiritual and awe-evoking and understood the event to be entering a spiritual realm of knowledge that is not accessible in waking life. Participants described these experiences as frightening and with

perplexing meaning. Researchers have noted the association between culture-specific stress and sleep disorders (Adler, 1991; Young et al., 2013). Acknowledging the importance of the mind-body connection as it pertains to holistic health, this sleep-paralysis experience has implications for the mental, physical, and spiritual well-being of this population. It should be emphasized that threat-based experiences of awe (as described by some of our participants experiencing sleep paralysis) did not have the same well-being benefits as awe described through positive experiences (Gordon et al., 2016).

Art and music can be awe-inspiring experiences (Keltner & Haidt, 2003); however, neither were mentioned by our participants. This non-finding may be indicative of the relative inexperience of us as interviewers or the small number and ages of our participants, but the absence of these commonly awe-inspiring experiences/interactions was striking.

Participants stated "Animism" and "Shamanism" as answers when asked about their religious or spiritual affiliation; it implies that there is verbal overlap or confusion about the meaning of Animism as a religion versus Shamanism as a religious practice and being Shaman. For example, when asked what the participants' religious or spiritual affiliation was, some participants said, "Animism and Shamanism" or recorrected themselves from "Shamanism" to "Animism" or only answered "Shamanism". Although this does not have meaning for our research question, it may be evidence of religious acculturation.

Implications for Holistic Health

In Holistic health, the goal is to achieve a state of wellness through healing and balancing the whole person -- mind, body, and spirit. Study participants note a spiritual connection between the mind and body; that to arrive at balance or understanding of life's purpose, spirituality needs attention. Also, as our participant demographic data show there to be a range of spiritual beliefs

and practices among second-generation Hmong living in Minnesota; anyone working to support their well-being should take individual perspective into consideration.

Curriculums for health professions could state that spirituality and awe are deemed present for second-generation Hmong and may be significant to well-being and positive health outcomes (Balboni, et al. 2022). Asking a patient about their spirituality may invite whole-person care and better guide medical decisions. Health practitioners and mental health programs should incorporate spirituality into their care models:spiritual or religious engagement is associated with reduced likelihood of depression and lengthened life expectancy and better health outcomes overall (George et al., 2000; McCullough & Larson, 1999). Many Hmong Americans struggle to have a healthy relationship with their parents, and struggle as they transition into college (Lee et al., 2008). Hmong students are at risk of developing "neurotic tendencies, depression symptoms, and family conflict" more so than their peers who are not Hmong (Lee et al., 2008). For Hmong men and women in college, family conflicts accounted for anxiety, depression, drug use, somatic symptoms, and whether they will complete their first year of college (Lee et al., 2008). Spirituality plays a role in mediating adversities by promoting healthy behaviors, lifestyles, social support, ritual psychodynamics, cognitive schemata, ego challenge, quantum effects, and has supernatural effects (Hodge 2007). To include Hmong spirituality experiences, Western medicine needs to acknowledge the cultural significance of Shamanism, with its potential Animistic components, to allow inclusion of these practices in healthcare and holistic healing.

While research linking awe to spirituality and health is underway, recent studies find that awe experienced with spirituality is a pathway to mental and physical health (Monray & Keltner, 2023). Our results showed that spiritual and awe experiences gave our participants a feeling of connectedness to themselves or God and their own spirituality. Practitioners and health care

models should incorporate spirituality and awe to promote holistic health and well-being among Hmong people.

Implications for the Hmong Community

Study participants express a lack of conversation revolving around the topic of spirituality, spiritual experiences, and awe experiences within the second-generation Hmong community. Several of our participants thanked us for doing this research, explaining that "no one talks about this stuff," but noting its importance. This lack of conversation may in part be due to generational communication barriers, acculturation factors, or the more individualized spiritual experiences rather than communal. As researchers and members of varying cultures, we have concern not only for loss of historical culture, but misinterpretation given multiple Hmong dialects and indirect word translation. The Hmong community are encouraged to talk about these topics to increase individual and collective awareness of cultural or religious practices and spiritual identity

Limitations

Our results have several limitations. One of the most significant limitations is the lack of generalizability. The experiences shared with us were found amidst only those second-generation Hmong living in Minnesota that responded to our study advertisements. Our sample size of nine included Christians and Animists, leaving Atheist and other religious beliefs unrepresented. See Methods for other overall and design-specific limitations.

Recommendations for Future Research

It would be useful to extend the current findings by examining the current state of spiritual satisfaction, performing a needs assessment and asking explicit questions about awe and spirituality experiences to arrive at more substantial findings. There is a need to research how

second-generations (and beyond) rate their spiritual well-being and degree of spiritual fulfillment, asking specifically to identify unmet spiritual needs. This is important for the well-being of not only the Hmong in Minnesota, but for all who interact with Hmong people in hopes of furthering collective well-being.

Due to the descriptions of sleep paralysis and other frightening recollections of awe, future research should focus on the degree of fear-based awe experiences within this community, and their implications for well-being. The phenomenon of sleep paralysis among Hmong and East Asian immigrants as a spiritual or awe-evoking experience deserves further exploration. Present research about sleep paralysis in this population is known to reflect stressors and signs of unmet psychosocial needs.

An arts-based research study may be another approach to glean or apply information surrounding spirituality and awe experiences for this population. Perhaps a small group format with purposeful intergenerational participant selection may produce a richly diverse discussion.

Conclusion

Nine adult second-generation Minnesota Hmong shared their spiritual and awe experiences with us during semi-structured interviews conducted in 2023. We find that Minnesota Hmong do experience spirituality and awe and that they have strong interconnections between spirituality and awe. While the specific term "well-being" was not used, participants stressed the importance of these experiences for the health of mental, emotional, and interpersonal relationships. Much work remains to be done before a full understanding of awe and spiritual experiences among second-generation Hmong is established, this study emphasizes that within second-generation Minnesotan Hmong, spiritual and awe experiences can be impactful to holistic health and well-being.

References

- Across the Mountains. (2022, June 17). Home [Facebook page]. [Video]. Retrieved April 19, 2023, from https://www.facebook.com/AcrossTheMountainsMedia
- Adler, S. R. (1991). Sudden unexpected nocturnal death syndrome among Hmong immigrants: examining the role of the "Nightmare." *The Journal of American Folklore, 104*(411), 54–71. https://doi.org/10.2307/541133
- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education & Literacy Studies*, 5(2), 9-19. http://dx.doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.9
- Appleton, J. & King, L. (1997). Constructivism: A naturalistic methodology for nursing inquiry.

 *Advances in Nursing Science, 20 (2), 13-22.

 https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/00012272-199712000-00003.
- Bai, M., L. A., Chen, S., Gordon, A. M., Stellar, J. E., McNeil, G. D., Peng, K., & Keltner, D. (2017). Awe, the diminished self, and collective engagement: Universals and cultural variations in the small self. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 113*(2), 185–209. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspa0000087
- Bai, Y., Ocampo, J., Jin, G., Chen, S., Benet-Martinez, V., Monroy, M., Anderson, C., & Keltner,
 D. (2021). Awe, daily stress, and elevated life satisfaction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 120(4), 837-860. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/pspa0000267
- Balboni, T. A., VanderWeele, T. J., Doan-Soares, S. D., Long, K. N. G., Ferrell, B. R., Fitchett,
 G., Koenig, H. G., Bain, P. A., Puchalski, C., Steinhauser, K. E., Sulmasy, D. P., & Koh,
 H. K. (2022). Spirituality in Serious Illness and Health. *JAMA*, 328(2), 184–197.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2022.11086

- Barrow, D. M. (2017). A phenomenological study of the lived experiences of parents of young children with autism receiving special education services. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
 - https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/phenomenological-study-lived-experience s-parents/docview/1979339103/se-2
- Bauer-Yeun, A. (2020, February 27). Through my lens being Christian, being Hmong.

 Intervarsity. https://intervarsity.org/blog/through-my-lens-being-christian-being-hmong.
- Birman D, & Poff M. (2011, April 1). Intergenerational differences in acculturation. In:

 Tremblay, R.E., Boivin, M., Peters, RDeV, (Eds.). Bornstein MH, topic ed. *Encyclopedia on Early Childhood Development* [online].

 https://www.child-encyclopedia.com/immigration/according-experts/intergenerational-dif
- Buck, H.G. (2006). Spirituality. Holistic Nursing Practice, 20 (6), 288-292.

ferences-acculturation. Accessed April 18, 2023

- Briain, L. (2012). Singing as social life: Three perspectives on kwv txhiaj from Vietnam. *Hmong Studies Journal*, *13*, 115-148.
- Budiman, A. (2022, May 24). *Hmong in the U.S. fact sheet*. Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project. Retrieved November 1, 2022, from https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/fact-sheet/asian-americans-hmong-in-the-u-s/
- Budiman, A. (2021, June 16). *Hmong: Data on Asian Americans*. Pew research center's social & demographic trends project. Retrieved from
 - $\underline{https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/fact-sheet/asian-americans-hmong-in-the-u-s/}$
- Bullock, A., Stallybrass, O., & Trombley, S. (1977). *The Fontana dictionary of modern thought*. Fontana Press.

- Büssing, A. (2021). Wondering awe as a perceptive aspect of spirituality and its relation to indicators of wellbeing: Frequency of perception and underlying triggers. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 738-770. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.738770
- Capps, L.L. (2011). Ua Neeb Khu: A Hmong American healing ceremony. *Journal of Holistic Nursing*, 29(2), 98-106. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898010110385940
- Castillo Guerra, J. (2019). Spiritual and identity transformations of migrants: An approach from the experience of an Andean community. *Religions (Basel, Switzerland)* 10(10), 539–354. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel10100539
- Ceplina, T., Cottrell, E., Muszynski, M., & Yang, Z. (2016). The religious dynamic and changing identity of Hmong peoples in the Midwest: Preservation and perseverance. *UW*Geography Undergraduate Colloquium. Retrieved from https://bit.ly/3LO4k0y
- Cha, D. & Livo, N. J. (1991). Folk stories of the Hmong: Peoples of Laos, Thailand, and Vietnam. (pp.41-43). Libraries Unlimited.
- Cha, D. (2003). Hmong American concepts of health, healing and conventional medicine.

 Routledge
- Chan, Z., Fung, Y & Chien, W. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process. *Qualitative Report*, 18(30), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2013.1486
- Chanson, P. (1993). Father Yves Bertrais, an essential figure in the history of Hmong

 Christianity: Tribute in the form of a travel story. *Exchange*, 22(1), 1-17. Retrieved from https://www.hmongstudiesjournal.org/-hmong-religion-religious-beliefs-and-christianity.

 httml

- Chirico, A., Cipresso, P., Yaden, D. B., Biassoni, F., Riva, G., & Gaggioli, A. (2017).

 Effectiveness of immersive videos in inducing awe: An experimental study. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1218–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-01242-0
- Chirico, A., Glaveanu, V., Cipresso, P., Riva, G., & Gaggioli, A. (2018). Awe enhances creative thinking: An experimental study. *Creativity Research Journal*, 30(2), 123-131. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2018.1446491
- Clinebell, H.J. (1992). Well being: A personal plan for exploring and enriching the seven dimensions of life: Mind, body, spirit, love, work, play, the world. Harper Collins.
- Cmich, D. E. (1979). An identification and analysis of fundamental concepts of holistic thought and their implications for health education. *University Microfilms International*.

 Retrieved from

 https://etd.ohiolink.edu/apexprod/rws etd/send file/send?accession=osu1487085168783
 689&disposition=inline.
- Cohen, A. B., Gruber, J., & Keltner, D. (2010). Comparing spiritual transformations and experiences of profound beauty. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality, 2*(3), 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019126
- Collier, A. F., Munger, M., & Moua, Y. K. (2012). Hmong mental health needs assessment: A community-based partnership in a small mid-western community. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 49(1/2), 73–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-011-9436-z
- Creswell, J.W. & Creswell J.D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches. Sage Publications.
- Crouse, T., & Lowe, P. (2018). Snowball sampling. In B. Frey (Ed.), The SAGE encyclopedia of

- educational research, measurement, and evaluation (pp. 1532-1532). SAGE Publications, Inc., https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781506326139.n636
- Culas, C., & Micraud, J. (1997). A contribution to the study of Hmong (Miao) migrations and history. *Bijdragen Tot de Taal-, Land- En Volkenkunde*, *153*(2), 211–243. http://www.jstor.org/stable/27864832
- Dance of the Dear Foundation. (n.d.) *What is Shamanism*?

 https://www.shamanism.com/what-is-shamanism
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semi-structured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- DeSantiago, D.V. (2020a). Changes, conflict, and culture: The status of social-cultural, environmental, and legal challenges for Hmong cultural practices in contemporary California. *Hmong Studies Journal*, 22, 1 41. https://bit.ly/3Isx900
- DeSantiago, D.V. (2020b). Animistic relations in nature: Spirits in the natural world and the underlying process and worldview that influence daily life in contemporary Hmong society. *Journal of Lao Studies*, 7(1), 37-54.
 - http://www.laostudies.org/system/files/subscription/DeSantiago.pdf
- DeSantiago, D.V. (2017). Effects of religious beliefs: The Hmong relationship with the environment in traditional and Christianized Hmong. *Berkeley McNair Research Journal*, 24(Spring), 68-87. https://bit.lv/33WmiBG
- Di Stefano, V. (2006). Holism and complementary medicine: Origins and principles. Allen & Unwin.
- Editors of Encyclopaedia Britannica. (1998). Animism. Britannica.

https://www.britannica.com/topic/animism

- Elkins, Hedstrom, L. J., Hughes, L. L., Leaf, J. A., & Saunders, C. (1988). Toward a humanistic-phenomenological spirituality. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 28(4), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022167888284002
- Elkins, D. (2001). Reflections on mystery and awe. In R. Marchesani & M. Stern (Eds.) Frightful stages (pp.163-168). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315809199-16
- English Standard Version Bible. (2001). ESV Online. https://esv.literalword.com/
- Erickson, H.L. (2007). Philosophy and theory of holism. *Nursing Clinics of North America*, 42, 139-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnur.2007.03.001
- Faderman, L., & Xiong, G. (1998). I begin my life all over: The Hmong and the American immigrant experience. Beacon Press.
- Fellowship of Israel Related Ministries. (n.d.). *Hebrew meaning of Yerwah: What connects fear and awe.*
 - https://firmisrael.org/learn/hebrew-meaning-of-yirah-what-connects-fear-and-awe/
- Fisher, J. (2011). The four domains model: Connecting spirituality, health and well-being. *Religions*, 2(1), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel2010017
- Galletta, A. (2013). Mastering the semi-structured interview and beyond: From research design to analysis and publication. New York University Press.
- George L. K., Larsons D. B., Koenig, H. G., & McCullough M. E. (2000). Spirituality and health: What we know, what we need to know. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *19*(1), 102–116. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2000.19.1.102
- Given. (2008). The Sage encyclopedia of qualitative research methods. SAGE.

- Gordon, A. M., Stellar, J. E., Anderson, C. L., McNeil, G. D., Loew, D., & Keltner, D. (2017).
 The dark side of the sublime: Distinguishing a threat-based variant of awe. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 113(2), 310–328.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000120
- Green, J. and Thorogood, N. (2004). *Qualitative methods for health research*. SAGE.
- Hamilton-Merritt, J. (1993). Tragic mountains: The Hmong, the Americans, and the secret wars for Laos, 1942-1992. Indiana University Press.
- Helsel, D. G., & Mochel, M. (2002). Afterbirths in the afterlife: Cultural meaning of placental disposal in a Hmong American community. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, *13*(4), 282–286. https://doi.org/10.1177/104365902236702
- Helsel, D., Thao, K.S., & Whitney, R. (2020). Their last breath: Death and dying in a Hmong American community. *Journal of Hospice & Palliative Nursing*, 22(1), 68-74. https://doi.org/10.1097/NJH.000000000000016
- Her, K., Moua, Y., Gick, J., Vang, I., & McKinstry, E. (n.d.-a). *Hmong religiosity and shamanism in the Twin Cities*. Religions in MN. Retrieved March 6, 2022, from https://bit.ly/3tDqiMx
- Her, K., Moua, Y., Gick, J., Vang, I., & McKinstry, E. (n.d.-b). *Portraits of Hmong shamans*.

 Religions in MN. Retrieved March 6, 2022, from https://bit.ly/3sNOoVG
- Her, K., Moua, Y., Gick, J., Vang, I., & McKinstry, E. (n.d.-c). *Future of Hmong shamans*.

 Religions in MN. Retrieved March 6, 2022, from https://bit.ly/3MvGmIz
- Her, V.K. (2005). Hmong cosmology: Proposed model, preliminary insights. *Hmong Studies Journal*, *6*, 1-25.
 - https://www.hmongstudiesjournal.org/uploads/4/5/8/7/4587788/herhsj6.pdf

- Her-Xiong, Y., & Schroepfer, T. (2018). Walking in two worlds: Hmong end of life beliefs & rituals. *Journal of Social Work in End-of-Life & Palliative Care, 14*(4), 291-314. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15524256.2018.1522288
- Hill, P., Pargament, K., Hood, R., McCullough, J., Swyers, J. & Larson, D. et al. (2000).
 Conceptualizing religion and spirituality: Points of commonality, points of departure.
 Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour, 30(1), 51–77.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5914.00119
- Hmong American Peace Academy. (2021). *Hmong culture & strengths*. HAPA Academy. https://www.myhapa.org/academics-2/general-info/hmong-culture-strengths/
- Hmong Cultural and Resource Center Minnesota. (2020). Learn about Hmong Hmong musical instruments. https://www.learnabouthmong.org/default-active-page-id=31.html
- Hodge, David R. (2000). Spirituality: Towards a theoretical framework. *Journal of Religion & Spirituality in Social Work: Social Thought, 19*, 1-20. https://doi.org10.1080/15426432.2000.9960271
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American journal of pharmaceutical education*, 84(1), 7120. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Jörgenfelt, C., & Partington, H. (2019). A critical analysis of J.C. Smuts' theory of holism.

 European Journal of Integrative Medicine, 31, 100980.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eujim.2019.100980
- Joseph, R. (2001). The limbic system and the soul: Evolution and the neuroanatomy of religious experience. *Zygon*, *36*(1), 105–136. https://doi.org/10.1111/0591-2385.00343

- Joseph, J., George, B., Benny, J. K., George, A., Kuriachan, A., Mary Babu, G., & Shibu, L.
 (2021). Spirituality and spiritual well-being among nursing students. *International Journal of Nursing Education and Research*, 9(4), 458–460.
 https://doi.org/10.52711/2454-2660.2021.00105
- Katz, J. (2019). Draw some awesome: The effect of art and awe on grief and giving. *Honors Theses*. Retrieved from https://scholarship.richmond.edu/honors-theses/1420
- Kearns, P. O., & Tyler, J. M. (2020). Examining the relationship between awe, spirituality, and religiosity. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, Advance online publication, http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/rel0000365
- Keltner, D., & Haidt, J. (2003). Approaching awe, a moral, spiritual, and aesthetic emotion. Cognition and Emotion, 17(2), 297–314. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930302297
- Kiger, M. E. and Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. *Medical Teacher*, 42(8), 846–854. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159x.2020.1755030
- Kitayama, S., Markus, H. R., Matsumoto, H., & Norasakkunkit, V. (1997). Individual and collective processes in the construction of the self: Self-enhancement in the United States and self-criticism in Japan. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 72(6), 1245-1267. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.72.6.1245
- Koenig H. (2004). Religion, spirituality, and medicine: Research findings and implications for clinical practice. *Southern Medical Journal*, *97*(12),1194-200. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.SMJ.0000146489.21837.CE
- LaPierre, L. L. (1994). A model for describing spirituality. *Journal of Religion and Health,* 33(2), 153-161. https://www.jstor.org/stable/27510796
- Lee, G. Y. (1996). Cultural identity in postmodern society: Reflections of what is Hmong?

- Hmong Studies Journal, 1(1), 1-14.
- https://www.hmongstudiesjournal.org/uploads/4/5/8/7/4587788/leeculturalidenthsjv1n1.pdf
- Lee, G. Y. (2007). Diaspora and the predicament of origins: Interrogating Hmong postcolonial history and identity. *Hmong Studies Journal*, *8*, 1-25. https://www.hmongstudiesjournal.org/uploads/4/5/8/7/4587788/gyleehsj8.pdf
- Lee, M. (2016). Exploring second generation Hmong American cultural perspectives of Health and their health behaviors (dissertation). UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations.

 University of California. Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/82d4f4r8.
- Lee, S., & Chang, J. (2012). Mental health status of the Hmong Americans in 2011: Three decades revisited. *Journal of Social Work in Disability & Rehabilitation*, 11(1), 55–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/1536710X.2012.648117
- Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (2000). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences. In Norman K. Denzin & Yvonna S. Lincoln (Eds.), The handbook of qualitative research (second edition) (pp.163-188). SAGE.
- Markus, H., & Kitayama, S. (1991). Culture and the self: Implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. *Psychological Review*, *98*(2), 224–253. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.98.2.224
- Markus, H. R., & Kitayama, S. (2003). Culture, self, and the reality of the social. *Psychological Inquiry*, *14*(3/4), 277–283. http://www.istor.org/stable/1449689
- McCall, A. L. (1999). Speaking through cloth: Teaching Hmong history and culture through textile art. *Social Studies*, *90*(5), 6-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/00377999909602421
- McCullough M. E., Larson, D. B. (1999). Religion and depression: A review of the literature. *Twin Research*, 2, 126-136. https://doi.org/10.1375/136905299320565997

- Mehar, M. (2018). The power of awe. *Men's Health*, *33*(5), 114–139. https://www.menshealth.com/health/a27545758/the-health-benefits-of-awe/
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Awe. In *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. Retrieved March 26, 2022, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/awe
- Minnesota Historical Society. (2014). We are Hmong Minnesota: Timeline. https://bit.ly/3jVRbqj
- Moberg, D. O. (2002). Assessing and measuring spirituality: Confronting dilemmas of universal and particular evaluative criteria. *Journal of Adult Development*, *9*(1), 47–60. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1013877201375
- Monroy, M., & Keltner, D. (2023). Awe as a pathway to mental and physical health. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *18*(2), 309–320. https://doi.org/10.1177/17456916221094856
 Moustakas, C. (1995). *Phenomenological Research Methods*. SAGE.
- Nagai, C. (2015). Responding to Southeast Asian spirituality in clinical practice.

 **Spirituality in Clinical Practice, 2(2), 106–119. https://doi.org/10.1037/scp0000070

 https://doi.org/10.1037/scp0000070
- National Lao Hmong Memorial Foundation. (2022). *National Lao-Hmong memorial foundation non-profit organization*. National LaoHmong Memorial Foundation. Retrieved from https://nlhmf.org/
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(2), 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Nuttall, P., & Flores, F. C. (1997). Hmong healing practices used for common childhood illnesses. *Pediatric Nursing*, *23*(3), 247–25.

- https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A19556564/AONE?u=anon~a9a93c82&sid=googleSchola r&xid=8593bc05
- Olmos-Vega, F. M., Stalmeijer, R. E., Varpio, L., & Kahlke, R. (2022). A practical guide to reflexivity in qualitative research: AMEE Guide No. 149. *Medical teacher*, *45*(3), 1–11. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2022.2057287
- Pearsall, P. (2007). Awe: The delights and dangers of our eleventh emotion. Health Communications, Inc.
- Peoples, K. (2021). How to write a phenomenological dissertation: A step by step guide. SAGE.
- Pezalla, A. E., Pettigrew, J., & Miller-Day, M. (2012). Researching the researcher-as-instrument: An exercise in interviewer self-reflexivity. *Qualitative Research: QR*, *12*(2), 165–185. https://doi.org/10.1177/1487941111422107
- Pfeifer, M.E., Chiu, M., & Yang, K. (2013). *Diversity in diaspora: Hmong Americans in the twenty-first century*. Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press. 223-246

 https://muse.jhu.edu/book/21545
- Piff, P. K., Dietze, P., Feinberg, M., Stancato, D. M., & Keltner, D. (2015). Awe, the small self, and prosocial behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 108*(6), 883-899. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000018
- Piff, P. K., & Moskowitz, J. P. (2017). Wealth, poverty, and happiness: Social class is differentially associated with positive emotions. *Emotion*, 18(6), 902–905. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000387

- Pilgrim, L., Norris, J. I., & Hackathorn, J. (2017). Music is awesome: Influences of emotion, personality, and preference on experienced awe. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 16(5), 442–451. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1645
- Portes, A., Rumbaut, R. G., & Rumbaut, R. G. (2001). *Legacies: The story of the immigrant second generation*. University of California Press.
- Postert, C. (2009). Moral agency, identity crisis and mental health: An anthropologist's plight and his Hmong ritual healing. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry, 34*(1), 169–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11013-009-9164-0
- Preston, J. L., & Shin, F. (2017). Spiritual experiences evoke awe through the small self in both religious and non-religious individuals. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 70, 212-221. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2016.11.006
- Puchalski, C., Ferrell, B., Virani, R., Otis-Green, S., Baird, P., Bull, J., Chochinov, H., Handzo, G., Nelson-Becker, H., Prince-Paul, M., Pugliese, K., & Sulmasy, D. (2009). Improving the quality of spiritual care as a dimension of palliative care: The report of the consensus conference. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *12*(10), 885–904. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2009.0142
- Qualtrics. (2022, July 26). *Your guide to sampling techniques and best practices*. Qualtrics.

 Retrieved October 3, 2022, from

 https://www.qualtrics.com/experience-management/research/sampling-methods/
- Quincy, K. (1998). *Hmong: History of a people* (2nd ed.). Eastern Washington University Press. Rairdan, B., & Higgs, Z.R. (1992). When your patient is a Hmong refugee. *American Journal of Nursing*, 92(3), 52-55.

- Razavi, Zhang, J. W., Hekiert, D., Yoo, S. H., & Howell, R. T. (2016). Cross-cultural similarities and differences in the experience of awe. *Emotion*, 16(8), 1097–1101. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000225
- Regents of the University of Minnesota. (2019, April 9). What is Culture? CARLA University of Minnesota. https://carla.umn.edu/culture/definitions.html
- Reiners, G. M. (2012). Understanding the differences between Husserl's (descriptive) and Heidegger's (interpretive) phenomenological research. *Journal of Nursing & Care*, 01(05), 1-3. doi: 10.4172/2167-1168.1000119
- Religions in Minnesota. (n.d.). *Hmong Religiosity*. https://religionsmn.carleton.edu/hmong_religiosity.
- Rivera, G., Vess, M., Hicks, J. A., & Routledge, C. (2020). Awe and meaning: Elucidating complex effects of awe experiences on meaning in life. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *50*(2), 392–405. https://doi.org/10.1002/eisp.2604
- Rudd, M., Vohs, K.D. & Aaker, J. (2012). Awe expands people's perception of time, alters decision making, and enhances well-being. *Journal of the American Psychological Society*, 23(10), 1130–1136. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612438731
- Saroglou, V., Buxtant, C., & Tilquin J. (2008). Positive emotions as leading to religion and spirituality. *Journal of Positive Psychology, 3*, 165-173. https://doi:10.1080/17439760801998737
- Shields, A, & Balboni, T. (2020). Building towards common psychosocial measures in U.S. cohort studies: Principal investigators' views regarding the role of religiosity and spirituality in human health. *BMC public health*, *20*(1), 973. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-08854-8

- Shiota, M. N., Keltner, D., & Mossman, A. (2007). The nature of awe: Elicitors, appraisals, and effects on self-concept. *Cognition and Emotion*, 21(5), 944-963

 https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02699930600923668
- Shiota, M., Keltner, D., & John, O. (2006). Positive emotion dispositions differentially associated with big five personality and attachment style. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *1*(2), 61–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760500510833
- Singh, M. (2018). The cultural evolution of shamanism. *Behavioral & Brain Sciences*, *41*(e66), 1–61. doi:10.1017/S0140525X17001893
- Silva Luna, D., & Bering, J. M. (2020). The construction of awe in science communication.

 *Public Understanding of Science, 30(1), 2–15.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0963662520963256.
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2015). Interpretative phenomenological analysis as a useful methodology for research on the lived experience of pain. *British Journal of Pain*, 9(1), 41–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/2049463714541642
- Steffen, P., & Merrill, R. (2011). The association between religion and acculturation in Utah Mexican immigrants. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture, 14*(6), 561–573. https://doi.org/10.1080/13674676.2010.495747
- Stellar, J., Gordon, A., Anderson, C. L., Piff, P. K., McNeil, G. D., & Keltner, D. (2018). Awe and humility. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 114*(2), 258–269. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000109
- Stellar, J. E., Gordon, A. M., Piff, P. K., Cordaro, D. T., Anderson, C. L., Bai, Y., Maruskin, L.A., & Keltner, D. J. (2017). Self-transcendent emotions and their social functions:

- Compassion, gratitude, and awe bind us to others through prosociality. *Emotion Review,* 9(3), 200–207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073916684557
- Sturm, V. E., Datta, S., Roy, A. R. K., Sible, I. J., Kosik, E. L., Veziris, C. R., Chow, T. E., Morris, N. A., Neuhaus, J., Kramer, J. H., Miller, B. L., Holley, S. R., & Keltner, D. (2022). Big smile, small self: Awe walks promote prosocial positive emotions in older adults. *Emotion (Washington, D.C.)*, 22(5), 1044–1058.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000876
- Swancutt, K. (2019) 2023. "Animism". In The Open Encyclopedia of Anthropology, edited by Felix Stein. Facsimile of the first edition in The Cambridge Encyclopedia of Anthropology. http://doi.org/10.29164/19anim.
- Thao, Y. J. (2006). The Mong oral tradition: Cultural memory in the absence of written language. McFarland.
- Tsai, J. (2022). Culture and emotion. In R. Biswas-Diener & E. Diener (Eds), *Noba textbook series: Psychology*. Champaign, IL: DEF publishers. Retrieved from http://noba.to/gfqmxtyw
- Tsai, J. (2007). Ideal affect: Cultural causes and behavioral consequences. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *2*, 242-259. http://dx.doi.org/10.111/j.1745-6916.2007.00043.x
- Tsai, J., Knutson, B. & Fung, H. (2006). Cultural variation in affect valuation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 90, 288-307. http://dz.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.90.2.288
- Tuohy, D., Cooney, A., Dowling, M., Murphy, K., & Sixsmith, J. (2013). An overview of interpretive phenomenology as a research methodology. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(6), 17–20. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.07.20.6.17.e315

- Twin Cities PBS (n.d.) The Split Horn. https://www.pbs.org/splithorn/shamanism1.html
- Twin Cities Public Television. (2017). *The CIA, the Hmong, and the Secret War.*https://www.mnvietnam.org/story/the-cia-the-hmong-and-the-secret-war/
- Underwood, L. G., & Teresi, J. A. (2002). The Daily Spiritual Experience Scale: Development, theoretical description, reliability, exploratory factor analysis, and preliminary construct validity using health-related data. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *24*(1), 22–33. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324796abm2401_04
- Vadala, J. (2019, March 27). Cross-culturally exploring the concept of Shamanism. Human Area Relations Files.
 - https://hraf.yale.edu/cross-culturally-exploring-the-concept-of-shamanism/
- Valdesolo, P., & Graham, J. (2014). Awe, uncertainty, and agency detection. *Psychological Science*, 25(1), 170–178. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613501884
- Van Cappellen, P., & Saroglou, V. (2012). Awe activates religious and spiritual feelings and behavioral intentions. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality, 4*(3), 223-236. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025986
- van Manen, M. (2017). Phenomenology and meaning attribution. *Indo-Pacific Journal of Phenomenology*, 17(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/20797222.2017.1368253
- van Manen, M. (2023). Phenomenology of practice: Meaning-giving methods in phenomenological research and writing. Routledge.
- Vang, C.Y. (2010). *Hmong America: reconstructing community in diaspora*.

 University of Illinois Press. Retrieved from

 https://books.google.com/books?id==b5V2W7crmAC&pg=PA17&source=gbs-toc-r&ca=d=3#v=onepage&q&f=false

- Vang, G. (2001). Tradition and Change in First and Second Generation Hmong-Americans, University of Wisconsin, La Crosse.
 - https://www.uwlax.edu/globalassets/offices-services/urc/jur-online/pdf/2001/g_vang.pdf
- Vang, T. S. (2013). A history of the Hmong: From ancient times to the modern diaspora. Lulu Press.
- Vang, T. (2018). How the Gospel came to the Hmong in Laos The Hmong people

 movement Part 1: The chosen. [Video]. YouTube.

 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UvWaMkePrFw
- Vue, R., & Mouavangsou, K. N. (2021). Calling our souls home: A Hmong epistemology for creating new narratives. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, 12(4), 265-275. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/aap0000273
- Wengraf, T. (2001). *Qualitative research interviewing*. SAGE. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781849209717
- Westgate, C. E. (1996). Spiritual wellness and depression. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 75, 26-35. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.1996.tb02311.x
- Winland, D. N. (1992). The role of religious affiliation in refugee resettlement: The case of the Hmong. *Canadian Ethnic Studies*, *24*(1), 96.
- Xiong, Z.B., Her, M., Xiong, M.K., Vue, W.H., Yang, C.T., Moua, N.H., Yang, N.K., & Wangsue, L. (2020). Exploring Hmong Americans' attitudes towards Hmong Traditional full-service funerals: The Hmong cultural integration project. *Hmong Studies Journal*, 22, 1-38.
 - https://www.hmongstudiesjournal.org/uploads/4/5/8/7/4587788/xiong et al hsj 22.pdf

- Young, C., & Koopsen, C. (2011). *Spirituality, health, and healing: An integrative approach*.

 Jones and Bartlett Publishers.
- Yaden, D. B. (2020). The Psychology of Religious Rituals and Practices. In Religion, Spirituality and Health: A Social Scientific Approach (pp. 17-30). (Religion, Spirituality and Health: A Social Scientific Approach; Vol. 5). Springer Nature.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-27953-0_2
- Zhao, H., Zhang, H., Xu, Y., He, W., & Lu, J. (2019). Why are people high in dispositional awe happier? The roles of meaning in life and materialism. *Frontiers in Psychology, 10*, 1208–1208. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01208

Appendix A: Flyer, Social Media Advertising, and Google Interest Form



PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

To describe spirituality and awe experiences within the second-generation Hmong living in the U.S.

REQUIREMENTS

- Must be 18 years or older
- Must live in Minnesota
- Must identify as second generation Hmong
- Must be able to speak English

WHAT IS SECOND GENERATION?

Individuals born and raised in the United States who have at least one foreign born parent.

Please pass on this information to people you know who may be interested in participating in our study.

INTERVIEWS

Interviews will be conducted by MAHHS students via Zoom (1 on 1) and are anticipated to take between 60 - 90 minutes of your time. Interviews will be in English.

Compensation: A \$25 gift card.

WHEN IS THE INTERVIEW?

All interviews will be done during the month of January 2023.

If you are interested in being in the study, please scan the QR code. ...



If have any questions, please contact us by sending an email to:
awesomehmongstudy@gmail.com

Appendix B: Social Media / FB Post

We will post our flier with additional post comments:

Nyob zoo (Hello)! Are you a second-generational English-speaking Hmong adult between the ages of 18 and up who lives in Minnesota? We are seeking volunteers to participate in our research study.

Our research study is called, "Lived Experiences of Spirituality and Awe in Second-generation Minnesota Hmong Adults." The purpose of this study is to describe spirituality and awe experiences within the second-generation Hmong living in the U.S.

Who will be conducting the interviews: One of the student researchers from the Masters of Holistic Health program. We are three student researchers (Mai Lee Xiong, MPH; Megan (Knoll) Pfenning, RN, PHN, LSN, ACM; Sheri DeMartelaere, MD, MHE) from the Master of Arts in Holistic Health Studies at St. Catherine University. Our research advisor is Stasia Johnson Steinhagen, MA, CCH. The interviews will be done as a one-on-one Zoom interview in English.

What is the second generation? Individuals born and raised in the United States who have at least one foreign born parent.

Why are you conducting this research? We have found that there is limited to no prior research on Hmong spirituality and awe experiences. We want to know how you describe spirituality and awe experiences. With the information we find, we want to pave the way for other researchers to conduct future studies relating to Hmong Spirituality, and Hmong awe experiences.

Please feel free to pass on this information to people you know who may be interested in knowing about or participating in our study. If you would like more information or if you are interested in the study, please feel free to contact us at awesomehmongstudy@gmail.com.

Appendix C: Google Interest Form

Thankyou for your interest in this research study!

Nyob zoo (Hello)! We are three students (Mai Lee Xiong, BSPH, MPH; Megan (Knoll) Pfenning, RN, PHN, LSN, ACM; Sheri DeMartelaere, MD, MHE) from the Master's of Holistic Health Studies program at St. Catherine University. Our research advisor is Stasia Johnson Steinhagen, MA, CCH and if you have any questions about the research study please feel free to contact us via email at awesomehmongstudy@gmail.com.

As a reminder, here is more information about our research study:

Research Study: Lived Experiences of Spirituality and Awe in Second-generation Minnesota Hmong Adults

Purpose: The purpose of this study is to describe spirituality and awe experiences within the second-generation Hmong living in the U.S.

Study: Interviews will be conducted via Zoom (1 on 1) and are anticipated to take between 60 - 90 minutes of your time. All interviews will be in English.

Compensation: Each participant will be compensated with a \$25 gift card.

Requirements: Must be 18 years or older, must live in Minnesota, and must identify as a second generation Hmong.

When: All interviews will be done during the month of January 2023. Please fill out this Google form if you are interested in being a participant for the research. We will connect with you for more information.

Please feel free to pass this information on to people you know who may be interested in knowing about or participating in our study.

Thankyou!



➂

* Required

First Name *

Your answer

Last Name	
Your answer	
Email *	
Your answer	
Phone number	
Your answer	
We are offering a \$25 gift card to all participants. Would you like to receive after your interview session?	e one
○ Yes	
O No	
Submit	Clear form
Never submit passwords through Google Forms.	
This form was created outside of your domain. Report Abuse - Terms of Service - Privacy Policy	
Google Forms	

Appendix D: Interview Guide for Spirituality and Awe Experiences

Hello, my name is [researcher's name]. I'll be leading our interview today. As I mentioned over email and in our flier, I am currently working with [researcher partners' names] to describe spirituality and awe experiences among Hmong second generation adults who live in MN. Your participation is key to our work!

I'd like to start by thanking you for making the time to speak with us. Your presence is valuable and will be used to help future researchers and Hmong communities explore awe and spirituality. Just to confirm, I'd like to keep this interview up to 60 minutes. Does that still work for you?

Great. If you need a break or to stop at any time, please let me know. Feel free not to answer any questions if you do not feel comfortable. If you would like to stop the interview at any time, please let me know as well.

During this interview, I'll ask you a few questions around spirituality and awe experiences. My questions are going to be very open-ended to allow you to share your experiences. Later on, I might ask more directed questions based on your shared thoughts.

Please be aware that there are no wrong answers — you're the expert here! We're doing interviews like these to hear things from your perspective. We're doing this to better understand these experiences, so we need to hear your honest thoughts.

I want to remind you that this session will be recorded. The recording will only be used to help us in our research, and it won't be shared with anyone outside the research team we described in the consent form we reviewed prior to this interview. Recording this also helps me to ensure that I have accurately captured your words. You will have an option to review the transcript and discuss any concerns or clarifications at that time.

Finally, I want to confirm that you've received, reviewed, signed, and returned your participant agreement called our Consent Form? Did you have any questions? Great. Do you have any questions for me at this time?

Warm up

Researchers such as neuropsychologist Pearsall and social psychologist Cohen have shared the following thoughts about awe and spirituality:

Awe is an emotion that can be experienced in many different ways. Awe experiences can be described as being either positive or negative. A positive awe experience is that of wonderment or amazement. It can be caused by viewing a beautiful piece of art, viewing a majestic vista, praying, or gazing at the stars. A negative awe experience can be one of an overwhelming sense of fear or powerlessness. It can be caused by seeing the aftermath of a tornado or the devastation

of a bridge collapsing. Both types of experiences often leave one feeling small in the vastness of all that makes up our world.

Spiritual experiences are often described as a religious, sacred, or mystical experience. They can be difficult to interpret and put into words. They often evoke a sense of a greater force being in charge of or directing the experience that is outside of our capability to fully understand or control.

Topic-specific

Now, I'd like to ask you a few broad questions.

What does the term spirituality or spiritual experiences mean to you?

How do you experience spirituality?

(If additional prompting is needed ask them: What does the term awe or awe-filled experience mean to you?)

What is your experience of awe? Or Describe your experiences of awe

Do these experiences hold any significance for you?

Have your awe experiences informed or influenced your spirituality?

Wrap up

As we finish, are there other questions you feel we forgot to ask about?

Is there anything else you would like to share with us?

I just want to remind you that you will have the option to review the transcript with me and discuss any concerns you have.

Final safety question - Would you like me to email mental health resource information to you?

Thank you so much for your time!